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JUSTICE PLEICONES:  Petitioner’s counsel, exercising professional 
judgment, determined that there was no basis upon which to seek a writ of 
certiorari to review the Court of Appeals’ decision affirming petitioner’s 
direct appeal. Petitioner then brought this post-conviction relief (PCR) 
action. Following an evidentiary hearing, the PCR judge held petitioner was 
entitled to seek belated discretionary review of his direct appeal. We granted 
certiorari, and now reverse. 

ISSUE 

Whether the circuit court erred in granting relief where 
petitioner’s direct appeal attorney did not to pursue 
discretionary review? 

ANALYSIS 

The PCR judge granted petitioner the right to seek a belated writ of 
certiorari to review the Court of Appeals’ decision on direct appeal under the 
mistaken belief that such a result was compelled by our decision in White v. 
State, 263 S.C. 110, 208 S.E.2d 35 (1974). As we explained in Poston v. 
State, 339 S.C. 37, 528 S.E.2d 422 (2000)1 and in Legge v. State, 349 S.C. 

1 We overrule Poston to the extent it may be read to hold that a claim of 
ineffective assistance of counsel may be made against an attorney involved in 
pursuing certiorari after a direct appeal. 

An individual has no constitutional right to the effective assistance of 
counsel when seeking discretionary appellate review.  Wainwright v. Torna, 
455 U.S. 586, 102 S.Ct. 1300, 71 L.Ed 2d 475 (1982) (no Sixth Amendment 
right to counsel in pursuing discretionary appeal); see also Ross v. Moffitt, 
417 U.S. 600, 94 S.Ct. 2437, 41 L.Ed 2d 341 (1974) (no Fourteenth 
Amendment right to counsel when pursuing discretionary appeal after an 
appeal of right); State v. Clinkscales, 318 S.C. 513, 458 S.E.2d 548 (1995) 
(Sixth Amendment right to counsel “extends only to the first right of 
appeal”). 
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222, 562 S.E.2d 618 (2002), White v. State is limited to situations where the 
PCR applicant did not knowingly and intelligently waive his right to a direct 
appeal. Petitioner, of course, was afforded this right. 

We decline to impose a duty on appellate counsel to pursue 
rehearing and/or certiorari following the decision of the Court of Appeals in a 
criminal direct appeal. The imposition of such a duty would conflict with 
this Court’s explanation in In re Exhaustion of State Remedies in Criminal 
and Post-Conviction Relief Cases, 321 S.C. 563, 471 S.E.2d 454 (1990), that 
the Court of Appeals was created to reduce the State’s appellate backlog.  A 
holding that certiorari must be sought whenever requested would increase 
this Court’s workload by increasing the number of criminal writs of certiorari 
to the Court of Appeals. This Court “reviews [Court of Appeals] decisions 
by writ of certiorari only where special reasons justify exercise of that 
power.” Id.  We find that the decision whether to pursue certiorari is a matter 
left solely to the appellant’s attorney’s professional discretion.  Cf. Jones v. 
Barnes, 463 U.S. 745, 103 S. Ct. 3308, 77 L.Ed.2d 987 (1983) (Appellate 
counsel must be allowed to exercise reasonable professional judgment in 
determining which non-frivolous issues to raise on direct appeal). 

CONCLUSION 

The PCR order finding petitioner was entitled to relief is  

REVERSED. 

TOAL, C.J., MOORE, WALLER and BURNETT, JJ., concur. 
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Submitted May 1, 2006 – Filed June 19, 2006 


AFFIRMED 

Attorney General Henry Dargan McMaster, Chief 
Deputy Attorney General John W. McIntosh, Deputy 
Attorney General T. Stephen Lynch, and Assistant 
Attorney General Elizabeth R. McMahon, all of 
Columbia, for Appellant. 

Marcus Fryer, of Columbia, for Respondent. 
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STILWELL, J.: The South Carolina Law Enforcement Division 
(SLED) appeals a trial court’s order expunging the record of Marcus Fryer’s 
conviction for petit larceny. We affirm.1 

FACTS 

Fryer alleges he was arrested on February 26, 1989, arising from his 
attempt to purchase a bag of chips from a vending machine. When the 
machine failed to eject the chips, Fryer shook the machine, causing the glass 
front to break. Fryer was charged with petit larceny.  By arrest warrant dated 
March 16, 1989, Fryer was also charged with malicious injury to personal 
property. Fryer testified both charges arose from the vending machine 
incident, and he was arrested only one time for the incident.  He pled guilty in 
magistrate court to both charges in a single hearing. 

In 1998, Fryer petitioned the court for expungement of his arrest 
record. By order dated October 9, 1998, the court issued an order expunging 
the malicious injury to personal property charge.  SLED expunged only the 
record of that charge. When Fryer learned only one charge had been 
expunged, he petitioned the court for expungement of the petit larceny 
charge. 

At a hearing on Fryer’s petition, SLED submitted fingerprint cards 
dated February 26, 1989 and March 16, 1989, arguing the separate cards 
indicated separate arrests which, in turn, indicated separate incidents.  Fryer 
attempted to retrieve the magistrate’s records and was informed the 
magistrate no longer had the files because, according to the magistrate, the 
charges had already been expunged. 

By order dated June 25, 2000, the court ordered the petit larceny charge 
expunged. The order was forwarded to SLED for execution.  SLED wrote a 

1 We decide this case without oral argument pursuant to Rule 215, 
SCACR. 
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2 Section 22-5-910 provides, inter alia, for the expungement of first 
offense convictions in magistrate court, after three years, provided the 
defendant has no other conviction during the three-year period.  S.C. Code 
Ann. § 22-5-910 (Supp. 2005) (amended). “No person may have his records 
expunged under this section more than once.” Id. 

letter to the judge requesting advice as SLED’s records showed Fryer was not 
eligible for expungement of the petit larceny charge. However, SLED did 
not move for reconsideration or appeal the 2000 order. 

SLED did not expunge the petit larceny charge. In April of 2002, after 
Fryer learned the charge had not been expunged, he again petitioned for 
expungement of the petit larceny charge based on the June 25, 2000 order. 
The trial court held an evidentiary hearing on the petition. 

The trial court made the factual finding that Fryer was arrested once 
based on the vending machine incident and both charges stemmed from that 
incident. Fryer and his mother each testified there was only one arrest arising 
from a single incident.  SLED employee Joseph E. Means, Jr. admitted that 
SLED expunges multiple offenses arising from a single arrest. SLED 
contended, however, that because the fingerprint cards were dated over a 
week apart, and because the warrants for the two offenses were not in 
numeric order, there must have been two arrests arising from two incidents.   

By order dated August 4, 2004, the court, interpreting Fryer’s petition 
as a petition for a writ of mandamus, found one arrest arising from a single 
incident, concluded the 2000 order was valid, and granted mandamus.  SLED 
appeals. 

LAW/ANALYSIS 

SLED argues the 2000 order expunging the petit larceny charge is void 
because it is in violation of South Carolina Code section 22-5-910.2  We  
disagree. 
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The 2000 order of expungement is not void.  A void judgment is one 
that, from its inception, is a complete nullity and is without legal effect and 
must be distinguished from one that is merely voidable.  Thomas & Howard 
Co. v. T.W. Graham & Co., 318 S.C. 286, 291, 457 S.E.2d 340, 343 (1995). 
“The definition of ‘void’ . . . encompasses judgments from courts which . . . 
lacked subject matter jurisdiction . . . .”  McDaniel v. U.S. Fid. & Guar. Co., 
324 S.C. 639, 644, 478 S.E.2d 868, 871 (Ct. App. 1996).  Irregularities not 
involving jurisdiction do not render a judgment void.  Thomas & Howard 
Co., 318 S.C. at 291, 457 S.E.2d at 343. 

Although SLED does not directly challenge the circuit court’s specific 
power to expunge under the statute, SLED argues the court lacked subject 
matter jurisdiction in this case because of the statute’s prohibition against 
more than one expungement.  We disagree.  Subject matter jurisdiction is the 
power to hear and determine cases of the general class to which the 
proceedings in question belong. State v. Gentry, 363 S.C. 93, 100, 610 
S.E.2d 494, 498 (2005). The circuit court clearly had subject matter 
jurisdiction over Fryer’s petition. Because the court had subject matter 
jurisdiction, SLED should have directly appealed the 2000 order. “There is a 
wide difference between a want of jurisdiction in which case the court has no 
power to adjudicate at all, and a mistake in the exercise of undoubted 
jurisdiction in which case the action of the trial court is not void although it 
may be subject to direct attack on appeal.”  Thomas & Howard Co., 318 S.C. 
at 291, 457 S.E.2d at 343. When a court acts with proper subject matter 
jurisdiction, but takes action outside of its authority, the party against whom 
the act is done must object and directly appeal. Coon v. Coon, 356 S.C. 342, 
347-48, 588 S.E.2d 624, 627 (Ct. App. 2003), aff’d as modified, 364 S.C. 
563, 614 S.E.2d 616 (2005). 

SLED next argues the trial court erred in granting mandamus in the 
2004 order. SLED argues mandamus was neither requested nor deserved. 
We find SLED has failed to preserve this issue.  A post-trial motion must be 
made when the trial court either grants relief not requested or rules on an 
issue not raised at trial. Pelican Bldg. Ctrs. of Horry-Georgetown, Inc. v. 
Dutton, 311 S.C. 56, 60, 427 S.E.2d 673, 675 (1993). 
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SLED finally argues the trial court erred in finding res judicata and 
estoppel applied to SLED’s challenge of the 2000 order because there was no 
litigation prior to the issuance of the 2000 order.  Based on our finding that 
the 2000 order was not void and SLED did not appeal the order, we decline 
to reach the issues of res judicata and estoppel. 

CONCLUSION 

For the foregoing reasons, the order on appeal is 

AFFIRMED. 

HUFF and BEATTY, JJ., concur. 
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Airborne Express, Inc., Moore 
Express, Inc., and Charles 
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representative of the estate of 
Jessica Lynne Carpenter, Defendants, 

Of whom Airborne Express, 
Inc. and Charles Carpenter, as 
personal representative of the 
estate of Jessica Lynne 
Carpenter, are the Appellants. 

Appeal From Aiken County 
James C. Williams, Jr., Circuit Court Judge 

Opinion No. 4124 
Heard May 9, 2006 – Filed June 19, 2006 

AFFIRMED 
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Robin A. Braithwaite, of Aiken, and Jonathan M. 
Aldeman, of Atlanta, Georgia, for Appellant 
Airborne Express; Ronald A. Maxwell, of Aiken, and 
James L. Ford, Sr., of Atlanta, Georgia, for Appellant 
Charles Carpenter. 

Karl Stephen Brehmer, of Columbia, and Marvin D. 
Dikeman and Melissa C. Patton, both of Atlanta, 
Georgia, for Respondent. 

STILWELL, J.: Airborne Express, Inc. and Charles Carpenter appeal 
the trial court’s grant of summary judgment in favor of Companion Property 
and Casualty Insurance Company in this declaratory judgment action. We 
affirm. 

This case arises from the tragic sexual assault and murder of 
Carpenter’s daughter, seventeen-year-old Jessica Carpenter. Robert Franklin 
Atkins was employed by Moore Express, Inc., a package delivery sub
contractor for Airborne. In late July of 2000, Atkins, a convicted felon, 
delivered a package to the Carpenter home. He returned to the home on 
August 4th dressed in his Airborne uniform and driving an Airborne delivery 
vehicle, gained entry to the premises, and attacked Jessica. 

Carpenter, in his capacity as Jessica’s personal representative, filed a 
wrongful death and survival action against Airborne, Moore, and Atkins. 
Moore was insured by Companion under a commercial general liability 
policy.1  Airborne was named as an additional insured.  Companion filed a 
declaratory judgment action contending that under the terms of the policy it 
was not required to defend Airborne or Moore because Jessica’s murder was 
not an “occurrence” as contemplated by the terms of the policy, and, further, 
fell within the intentional acts exclusion of the policy.  The trial court agreed 

1 Moore also had a commercial automobile policy through 
Companion, and both Moore and Airborne sought coverage under that policy 
as well. Coverage under that policy is not an issue in this appeal. 
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and granted summary judgment in Companion’s favor. Airborne and 
Carpenter appeal. 

STANDARD OF REVIEW 

In reviewing a motion for summary judgment, the appellate court 
applies the same standard of review as the trial court under Rule 56(c), 
SCRCP. Cowburn v. Leventis, 360 S.C. 20, 30, 619 S.E.2d 437, 443 (Ct. 
App. 2005) (citing Trousdell v. Cannon, 351 S.C. 636, 639, 572 S.E.2d 264, 
265 (2002)). Summary judgment should be affirmed if there is no genuine 
issue of material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter 
of law.  Id.  “Our standard of review in evaluating a motion for summary 
judgment is to liberally construe the record in favor of the nonmoving party 
and give the nonmoving party the benefit of all favorable inferences that 
might reasonably be drawn therefrom.”  Estes v. Roper Temp. Servs., Inc., 
304 S.C. 120, 121, 403 S.E.2d 157, 158 (Ct. App. 1991).   

LAW/ANALYSIS 

Airborne appeals the trial court’s determination that Carpenter’s 
complaint failed to allege an “occurrence” within the contemplation of the 
terms of the policy and that the intentional acts exclusion of the policy 
precludes coverage.2  Carpenter contends the court improperly applied the 
summary judgment standard by finding inferences in favor of the moving 
party, Companion. 

As a preliminary matter, we must determine which state’s law applies. 
In construing insurance policies, South Carolina courts apply the law of the 
state where the policy was issued. Gordon v. Colonial Ins. Co. of California, 
342 S.C. 152, 155-56, 536 S.E.2d 376, 378 (2000).  Moore is a Georgia 
corporation, and the policy was issued and delivered to Moore in Georgia. 
Consequently, Georgia law governs our application and interpretation of the 
policy. All parties agree the application of Georgia law is appropriate. 

2 Airborne and Carpenter also contend that the cases relied upon by 
Companion are factually distinct from this case.  As that question is 
essentially part and parcel of the central issue on appeal, we do not address it 
separately. 

25




An insurer’s duty to defend is determined by examining the allegations 
contained in the complaint and comparing them to the coverage provided by 
the policy. Batson-Cooke Co. v. Aetna Ins. Co., 409 S.E.2d 41, 42-43 (Ga. 
App. 1991). In the instant case, the underlying complaint states claims for 
wrongful death and survival.  In stating his claims, Carpenter alleges that 
Airborne and Moore were negligent in failing to conduct a background 
investigation of Atkins prior to hiring him, in failing to warn customers that 
delivery persons had not been subject to background checks, in failing to 
conduct periodic background checks once employees were hired, and in 
inducing customers to believe that delivery persons are agents and 
representatives of Airborne, all resulting in Atkins’ assault of Jessica. 

The initial allegation, that Airborne and Moore were negligent in 
Atkins’ assault of Jessica, appears to rest solely on the theory of vicarious 
liability; i.e., the employee’s conduct is imputed to his employer.  The 
remaining allegations, however, seem to assert separate negligent acts or 
omissions on the part of Airborne and Moore that contributed to Jessica’s 
assault and death.  Having preliminarily examined the allegations in the 
complaint, we must now compare those allegations with the coverage 
provided by the relevant provisions in the policy. 

Moore’s CGL policy provides the following: 

This insurance applies to “bodily injury” or “property 
damage” only if: 
(1)	 The “bodily injury” or “property damage” is 

caused by an “occurrence” that takes place in the 
“coverage territory[.]” 

Occurrence is defined in the policy as “an accident, including continuous or 
repeated exposure to substantially the same general harmful conditions.” 
Airborne argues that whether Jessica’s murder was an “accident” must be 
viewed not from Atkins’ standpoint, but from the standpoint of Airborne and 
Moore under the Georgia case of Crook v. Georgia Farm Bureau Mut. Ins. 
Co., 428 S.E.2d 802 (Ga. App. 1993). In Crook, the son of the plaintiffs in 
the underlying suit committed an intentional act that resulted in his death.  Id. 
at 802-03. The parents sued Crook, who was characterized as an innocent 
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bystander, apparently on the theory that he should have intervened to prevent 
the son from suffering the fatal consequence of his own voluntary act. Id. 
Crook was insured under a homeowner’s policy issued by Georgia Farm 
Bureau, which defended under a reservation of rights and brought a 
declaratory judgment action asserting it owed no duty to defend because the 
son’s death was the result of an intentional act on his part. Id. at 803. The 
son’s death was therefore not an “occurrence” as defined by the policy terms. 
Id. The Georgia Court of Appeals determined that although the son’s 
intentional act caused his own death, as to Crook, who was the insured and 
apparently took no active role in the occurrence that caused the son’s death, 
the event was “clearly an ‘accident,’ because it was an unintentional event 
which took place without [Crook’s] ‘foresight or expectation or design.’”  Id. 
The court insinuated that the underlying tort action could be considered 
“groundless,” but that had no bearing on the decision whether Farm Bureau 
owed Crook the duty of providing him a defense. Id. 

Even if Crook supports the notion that an intentional act committed by 
one party may be considered an accident as to an insured in certain 
circumstances, it does not support Airborne’s main contention.  In Crook, the 
intentional act causing the ultimate event complained of was committed by a 
total stranger to the policy, and such act was not attributable, either 
vicariously or otherwise, to the insured. To interpret Crook to mean that the 
intentional acts of Atkins are completely severable from Moore and Airborne 
would require us to disregard other more recent, and more on point, 
precedents. 

Subsequent Georgia case law appears to support the conclusion urged 
upon us by Companion that, because Atkins’ acts were clearly intentional, the 
claims by Carpenter are not covered.3  O’Dell v. St. Paul Fire & Marine Ins. 
Co., 478 S.E.2d 418 (Ga. App. 1996), is a coverage case that arose as a result 

3 The policy at issue also contains a “separation of insureds” clause 
that indicates each insured will be treated severally under the policy.  Had 
this issue been sufficiently preserved by having been raised to and ruled upon 
by the trial court, this case would potentially require a different analysis.  See 
State v. Dunbar, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 693-94 (2003) (holding 
that an issue must be raised to and ruled upon by the trial court to be 
preserved for appellate review). 
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of an employee’s suit against the employer, O’Dell, and his two companies, 
DRACS Consulting Group, Inc. (DRACS) and Direct Recruiting Associates 
(DRA), for sexual harassment and assault and battery.  Id. at 419. The court 
determined that the sexual harassment claims did not constitute “bodily 
injury” as required by the policy, and the assault and battery did not 
constitute an event under the policy as such acts were clearly intentional and 
not accidental. Id. at 420. Most significantly, the court went on to address 
potential negligence claims against DRACS and DRA arising from the 
underlying assault and battery and sexual harassment claims. 

O’Dell also claims that St. Paul must defend the 
lawsuit on behalf of DRACS and DRA because 
[plaintiff] alleged facts on which a cause of action for 
negligent retention of O’Dell could be based. We 
note initially that the policy does not recite that it 
covers losses due to negligent retention. But even if 
this were true, the complaint does not allege that 
[plaintiff] suffered bodily injuries, and even assuming 
she did suffer bodily injuries, she did not allege that 
those injuries were caused by an accident and thus 
were brought about by an “event.” 

Id.  (emphasis in original). 

We find the factual scenario in O’Dell so similar to those in the instant 
case that we consider the holding therein to be controlling here.  In O’Dell, 
the plaintiff alleged an intentional tort, sexual harassment, and brought a 
claim of negligent retention against DRACS and DRA. The Georgia Court of 
Appeals concluded that the negligent retention claim specifically was not a 
covered “event” under the CGL policy because the plaintiff did not allege her 
injuries were caused by an accident. 

In this case, the plaintiff has alleged intentional acts, assault and 
murder, and has asserted a negligence claim against Moore and Airborne. 
We are compelled to conclude, as did the court in O’Dell, that the negligence 
claims against Airborne do not constitute an “occurrence,” as Carpenter does 
not allege Jessica’s injuries were caused by an accident. As a result, the 
claims against Airborne are not covered under the policy. 
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The decision of the Eleventh Circuit in SCI Liquidating Corp. v. 
Hartford Fire Ins. Co., 181 F.3d 1210 (1999), supports our interpretation of 
O’Dell by stating, “[t]he Georgia Court [in O’Dell] concluded that the 
plaintiff’s negligent retention claims also were not covered, because, among 
other things, the plaintiff ‘did not allege that those injuries were caused by an 
accident and thus were brought about by an ‘event.’” Id. at 1216. The court 
in SCI Liquidating also declined to rely on Crook recognizing, as we do, a 
distinction between Crook and cases like the one before us. See id. at 1216
17. 

Because we conclude Carpenter’s complaint does not allege an 
occurrence under the policy, thereby negating Companion’s obligation to 
defend, we decline to address whether the policy’s intentional act exclusion is 
applicable. See Rule 220(c), SCACR; Futch v. McAllister Towing of 
Georgetown, Inc., 335 S.C. 498, 613, 518 S.E.2d 591, 598 (1999) (“[A]n 
appellate court need not address remaining issues when disposition of prior 
issue is dispositive.”). 

AFFIRMED. 

HUFF and BEATTY, JJ., concur. 
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PER CURIAM:  The issue presented in this appeal is whether William 
Nelson’s due process and equal protection rights were violated by the fact 
that the family court intervention action proceeded to trial while related 
criminal charges were also pending against him.  We find no constitutional 
violation and affirm.1 

I. 

In June of 2004, the South Carolina Department of Social Services 
brought a removal action against Michelle Walter, Ricardo Pagan, and 
William Nelson alleging that Walter and Pagan left Jane Doe,2 a sixteen-year
old female, in the custody of Nelson, who sexually abused her and allowed 
her to smoke marijuana. At the family court probable cause hearing, Nelson 
appeared with counsel and raised concerns that he might not be able to testify 
due to pending criminal charges.  The family court denied the request to hold 
the family intervention action in abeyance pending resolution of the criminal 
charges. 

A trial was held, and the family court found that Nelson had sexually 
abused Doe. Nelson did not testify at the hearing.  Nelson appeals. 

1 We decide this case without oral argument pursuant to Rule 215, 
SCACR. 
2 We use of the name Doe in light of the allegations and findings of 
sexual abuse. 
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II. 

Nelson argues on appeal that his equal protection and due process 
rights were violated by the family court’s failure to hold the family court 
action in abeyance pending resolution of the related criminal charges. The 
essence of Nelson’s position is that the pending criminal charges (and his 
right to remain silent) unduly and impermissibly influenced his decision 
whether to testify in the family court action and, more generally, his ability to 
defend himself against the family court abuse allegations, amounting to a 
constitutional violation. 

Case law from other jurisdictions has uniformly rejected Nelson’s 
constitutional challenge. United States v. Kordel, 397 U.S. 1, 11 (1970) 
(holding that simultaneous civil and related criminal proceedings do not 
constitute “unfairness and want of consideration of justice” requiring reversal 
of a criminal conviction); Peiffer v. Lebanon Sch. Dist., 848 F.2d 44, 46 (3rd 
Cir. 1988) (holding there was no constitutional requirement that the 
administrative hearing be postponed pending disposition of the criminal 
charges); Wimmer v. Lehman, 705 F.2d 1402, 1406-1407 (4th Cir. 1983), 
cert. denied, 464 U.S. 992 (1983) (same); Hoover v. Knight, 678 F.2d 578, 
581 (5th Cir. 1982) (“Many cases have held that parallel criminal and civil 
trials or investigations do not raise questions of constitutional magnitude with 
respect to the privilege against self-incrimination.”); Diebold v. Civil Serv. 
Comm’n of St. Louis County, 611 F.2d 697, 700-01 (8th Cir. 1979) (holding 
that the Fifth Amendment presents no obstacle to parallel criminal and 
administrative proceedings); Arthurs v. Stern, 560 F.2d 477, 478-80 (1st Cir. 
1977), cert. denied, 434 U.S. 1034 (1978) (holding that a physician accused 
of writing illegal prescriptions was not entitled, by virtue of his right to be 
free of coerced self-incrimination, to continuance of disciplinary proceedings 
until the criminal charges arising out of the same conduct were resolved); 
Gabrilowitz v. Newman, 582 F.2d 100, 104 (1st Cir. 1978) (holding that the 
fact that parallel proceedings force a defendant to make a difficult choice as 
to whether to testify does not of itself violate the constitution); United States 
v. Rubinson, 543 F.2d 951, 961-62 (2nd Cir. 1976), cert. denied, 429 U.S. 
850 (1976) (holding that the Fifth Amendment right against self
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incrimination was not prejudiced by a prior administrative proceeding based 
on the same facts); State ex rel. Okla. Bar Ass’n v. Gasaway, 863 P.2d 1189, 
1195-98 (Okla. 1993) (holding a continuance of lawyer disciplinary 
proceedings pending resolution of related criminal proceedings is not 
constitutionally required); Giampa v. Ill. Civil Serv. Comm’n, 411 N.E.2d 
1110, 1116 (Ill. App. Ct. 1980) (holding there is nothing inherently repugnant 
to due process in requiring a party to choose between giving testimony at a 
disciplinary hearing and keeping silent, even though giving testimony at the 
hearing may damage his criminal case and keeping silent will most likely 
lead to loss of his employment). Nelson cites no law to the contrary. 

We are further mindful of the statutory mandate for an expedited 
resolution in family court intervention actions.  A removal action should be 
resolved in an expedited manner for the protection of an abused or neglected 
child. S.C. Code Ann. §§ 20-7-610 and 20-7-736 (Supp. 2005). 

Nelson was present at the hearing and was represented by counsel.  His 
decision whether to testify, while admittedly a difficult one for tactical 
reasons, did not implicate either the state or federal constitutions.  Because no 
constitutional issue was at stake, we review under an abuse of discretion 
standard the family court’s denial of Nelson’s motion to delay the 
intervention action.  We find no abuse of discretion in the family court’s 
denial of Nelson’s motion. 

AFFIRMED. 

KITTREDGE, SHORT, and WILLIAMS, JJ., concur. 
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KITTREDGE, J.:  We are presented with an appeal from a decision of 
the Resolution of Fee Disputes Board of the South Carolina Bar.  We dismiss 
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this appeal and hold that this court lacks appellate jurisdiction to review such 
matters. 1 

I 

Heisha Wright retained Dickey in February of 2001 to advise her in 
certain legal matters.  She paid Dickey for his services.  According to Wright, 
Dickey failed to perform the work and refused to return the fee.  Wright filed 
an application with the Resolution of Fee Disputes Board of the South 
Carolina Bar (Board). Having submitted the fee dispute to the Board, Wright 
bound herself and Dickey (as a member of the South Carolina Bar) to the 
decision of the Board. See Rule 416, SCACR, Rule 9. 

In compliance with Rule 416, SCACR, the matter was referred to the 
circuit chair and assigned to an investigator.  Dickey initially cooperated with 
the inquiry, but subsequently refused to communicate with the Board’s 
investigator. The investigation yielded a recommendation that Dickey return 
a portion of the retainer to Wright. 

The circuit chair reviewed, and ultimately concurred with, the 
recommendation. Because the amount in dispute was less than $5,000, the 
circuit chair’s concurrence represented the final decision of the Board.  Rule 
416, SCACR, Rule 13. 

On October 8, 2002, Dickey appealed to the circuit court pursuant to 
Rule 20 of the Rules of the Board, but set forth no grounds for the appeal. 
Dickey’s notice of appeal stated that the grounds for the appeal would be 
included in his “forthcoming” brief. Despite repeated requests that he do so, 
Dickey never filed a brief in regards to this matter, and did not assert any 
specific grounds for relief. Dickey attempted to state his grounds for 
appellate review after the matter was heard in the circuit court. 

We decide this case without oral argument pursuant to Rule 215, 
SCACR. 
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After continuances at Dickey’s request, the case was called for a 
hearing on March 2, 2004, before Judge B. Hicks Harwell.  Dickey attended 
this hearing. Because Wright appeared pro se, Judge Harwell granted 15 
days for Wright to retain counsel. Judge Harwell subsequently recused 
himself.  The Chief Justice of the South Carolina Supreme Court issued an 
order reassigning the matter to Judge Edward B. Cottingham.   

The hearing was rescheduled for April 5, 2004, and Dickey was 
properly notified by certified mail.  Dickey knew of this hearing, for he again 
requested a continuance. Dickey failed to appear at the hearing. As noted, 
Dickey failed to file a brief or memorandum specifying the grounds for his 
appeal. The circuit court entered an order dismissing the appeal with 
prejudice. 

Dickey filed a motion to alter or amend, contending that he did not 
receive proper notice of the hearing, and that the circuit court judge erred in 
refusing to recuse himself from the case. The circuit court denied the motion, 
finding that: (1) Dickey received proper notice and willfully failed to attend 
the hearing; and (2) Dickey never filed a motion requesting recusal and failed 
to provide any evidence of a conflict of interest or other reason requiring 
recusal. This appeal follows. 

II 

We find this court lacks jurisdiction to review this appeal.  Rule 201(a), 
SCACR, provides that appeals “may be taken, as provided by law, from any 
final judgment or appealable order.” In the civil arena, “[t]he right of appeal 
arises from and is controlled by statutory law.”  N.C. Fed. Sav. & Loan Ass’n 
v. Twin States Dev. Corp., 289 S.C. 480, 481, 347 S.E.2d 97, 97 (1986).   

The criteria for determining appealability is set forth in sections 14-3
320 and -330 of the South Carolina Code (Supp. 2005).  S.C. Code Ann. § 
18-9-10 (Supp. 2005). Section 14-3-320 provides for appellate jurisdiction in 
equity cases. Section 14-3-330 provides that appellate courts “shall have 
appellate jurisdiction for correction of errors of law in law cases . . . .”  We 
are not presented here with an action in law or equity, but a specialized 
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proceeding before a branch of the South Carolina Bar, which in turn is an 
administrative arm of the South Carolina Supreme Court. 

The case of Kores Nordic (USA) Corp. v. Sinkler, Gibbs & Simons, 
284 S.C. 513, 327 S.E.2d 365 (Ct. App. 1985), is instructive.  Kores Nordic 
submitted a fee dispute with the Sinkler law firm to the Resolution of Fee 
Disputes Board. Id. at 514, 327 S.E.2d at 365. At the time, the applicable 
rules did not provide for any appeal of the Board’s decision. Dissatisfied 
with the decision of the Board, Kores Nordic sought an appeal to the circuit 
court under the Administrative Procedures Act (APA).  The circuit court 
dismissed the attempted appeal, and this court affirmed. The APA “requires 
as a prerequisite to judicial review that a final decision in a contested case 
have been rendered by an ‘agency.’” Id. at 515, 327 S.E.2d at 366. We held 
that the Board, as part of the South Carolina Bar (and hence our supreme 
court), was not an “agency” within the ambit of the APA. Id. at 516, 327 
S.E.2d at 366. 

Subsequent to our opinion in Kores Nordic, Rule 416 was amended to 
provide for a limited right of appeal to the circuit court.  The rule (Rule 20 
within SCACR Rule 416) provides that a party may appeal a final decision of 
the Board to the circuit court on certain limited grounds. No mention is made 
of further appeal. Indeed, further appeal runs contrary to the Board’s purpose 
of expeditious resolution of fee disputes. See Rule 416, SCACR, Rule 2 
(“The purpose of the Board is to establish procedures whereby a dispute 
concerning fees . . . may be resolved expeditiously . . . .”); Byrd v. Irmo High 
Sch., 321 S.C. 426, 433-34, 468 S.E.2d 861, 865 (1996) (recognizing that 
where a statute specifically sets forth an appeals procedure, we may not 
expand our jurisdiction through implication). 

CONCLUSION 

We conclude there is no appeal from a decision of the Resolution of 
Fee Disputes Board of the South Carolina Bar beyond the circuit court as set 
forth in SCACR 416, Rule 20. This appeal is 

DISMISSED. 
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SHORT and WILLIAMS, JJ., concur.
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HEARN, C.J.:  Christopher Santiago appeals his convictions of 
murder and possession of a firearm during the commission of a violent crime, 
alleging the trial judge erred in refusing to charge the jury on self-defense and 
in excluding testimony of a forensic psychiatrist.  We affirm. 

FACTS 

During the summer of 2002, Santiago and Kate Wisn lived together at 
the Hilton Head vacation home of Kate’s parents. When Kate’s father, Joe 
(hereinafter “Wisn”), visited Hilton Head in July, he informed Santiago that 
he and Kate needed to move out of the home within the next two weeks. 
That evening, Santiago left the home and drove to New Jersey to live with his 
parents. After a brief stay in New Jersey, Santiago returned to South 
Carolina and began renting an apartment near the vacation home. 

According to Santiago, on the morning of August 9, 2002, he left his 
apartment with a 20-gauge shotgun in the trunk of his car with the intent to 
commit suicide. Before taking his own life, he called his parents to tell them 
goodbye. They convinced him to see his psychiatrist, who was able to talk 
Santiago out of committing suicide.1 

When Santiago returned to his apartment, he had a message on his 
answering machine from Wisn, requesting that Santiago come to the vacation 
home to pick up some belongings. Upon his arrival at Wisn’s home, 
Santiago saw his belongings packed in a container beside Wisn’s car in the 
driveway. Santiago rummaged through the container in search of a favorite 
belt but was unable to find it.  He rang the doorbell; Wisn answered, and the 
two men went inside to search for the belt. 

According to Santiago, he began to cry while looking for the belt, and 
Wisn ridiculed him. At that point Santiago left the house, but Wisn followed 
him. Santiago testified that Wisn told him to “stay the f— away from my 

1 Santiago did not call his psychiatrist as a witness. 
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daughter.” Santiago walked past the container of his belongings, but Wisn 
picked it up and walked around to the back of Santiago’s car to place it in the 
trunk. After Santiago opened the trunk, Wisn placed the container into it and 
noticed the 20-gauge shotgun. Wisn looked at the shotgun, looked at 
Santiago, and then looked at the shotgun again. Santiago testified he thought 
Wisn was about to grab the shotgun, so he took the gun from the trunk and 
pointed it at Wisn. Santiago took a step back.  Wisn told Santiago “don’t be 
f—ing stupid.” Santiago testified he thought Wisn was about to reach for the 
gun so he opened fire. He shot Wisn four times, and Wisn later died from his 
wounds. 

After fleeing the scene, Santiago drove to a fire station, and told the 
firemen that he shot someone on Hilton Head who had “ruined his life.” A 
fireman called the police, and the police sent detective Leland Tuten to 
investigate. Detective Tuten provided Santiago with a Miranda2 rights and 
waiver form, which Santiago initialed and signed. Tuten then provided 
Santiago with a pen and paper, and Santiago drafted a confession. In this 
confession, Santiago explained that while he lived with Kate, Wisn tried to 
turn her family members against him.  He wrote he planned to marry Kate, 
but his plan fell through because Wisn kicked him out of the house. Santiago 
also admitted he shot Wisn four times with the shotgun.  The confession went 
on to describe the shooting. Santiago said he was standing near the back of 
his car when he fired on Wisn, who was standing near the front of the car.3 

After Santiago confessed to the shooting, Tuten arrested him. Santiago was 
subsequently indicted for murder and possession of a firearm during the 
commission of a violent crime.  

During trial, Santiago attempted to present testimony from Dr. Donna 
Schwartz-Watts, a forensic psychiatrist, who, prior to trial, had diagnosed 
Santiago with a condition called asperger’s disorder, a subset of autism. 
Santiago argued Schwartz-Watts’s testimony would be relevant to his mental 

Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436 (1966). 

3 According to the testimony of the forensic pathologist, the shots were fired 
from a distance of six to ten feet. 
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state at the time of the shooting and would also support a finding that 
Santiago committed voluntary manslaughter rather than murder. The trial 
judge refused to allow her testimony into evidence, finding it was not 
relevant because South Carolina does not recognize the defense of 
diminished capacity.  The trial court also rejected Santiago’s request to 
charge the jury with self-defense. 

The jury convicted Santiago of murder and possession of a firearm 
during the commission of a crime. The judge sentenced Santiago to life 
imprisonment without parole.   

LAW/ANALYSIS 

I. Self-Defense Charge 

Santiago first argues the trial judge erred in refusing to charge the jury 
on self-defense. We disagree. 

An appellate court will not reverse the trial judge’s decision regarding 
jury charges absent an abuse of discretion. Clark v. Cantrell, 339 S.C. 369, 
389, 529 S.E.2d 528, 539 (2000); State v. Williams, 367 S.C. 192, 624 S.E.2d 
443 (Ct. App. 2005). If there is any evidence to support a jury charge, the 
trial judge should grant the requested charge.  State v. Burriss, 334 S.C. 256, 
262, 513 S.E.2d 104, 108 (1999). The refusal to grant a requested jury 
charge that states a sound principle of law applicable to the case at hand is an 
error of law. Clark, 339 S.C. at 390, 529 S.E.2d at 539. To warrant a 
reversal, however, the error must result in prejudice to the party requesting 
the charge. Id.  A self-defense charge is not required unless the evidence 
supports it. State v. Goodson, 312 S.C. 278, 280, 440 S.E.2d 370, 372 
(1994). 

To establish self defense in South Carolina, four elements must be 
present: (1) the defendant was without fault in bringing on the difficulty; (2) 
the defendant actually believed he was in imminent danger of losing his life 
or sustaining serious bodily injury; (3) a reasonable, prudent person of 
ordinary fitness and courage would have entertained the same belief; and (4) 
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the defendant had no other probable means of avoiding the danger of losing 
his life or sustaining serious bodily injury other than to act as he did.  Jackson 
v. State, 355 S.C. 568, 570-71, 586 S.E.2d 562, 562 (2003); State v. Day, 341 
S.C. 410, 416, 535 S.E.2d 431, 434 (2000). If there is any evidence of self-
defense, the issue must be submitted to the jury.  State v. Burkhart, 350 S.C. 
252, 260, 565 S.E.2d 298, 302 (2002). In charging self-defense, the trial 
judge should consider the facts and circumstances of the case and fashion an 
appropriate charge. State v. Starnes, 340 S.C. 312, 322, 531 S.E.2d 907, 913 
(2000). The trial judge commits reversible error if he or she fails to give a 
charge on an issue raised by the evidence and requested by the defendant. 
State v. Lee, 298 S.C. 362, 364, 380 S.E.2d 834, 836 (1989).     

Here, the record does not support a charge of self-defense for several 
reasons. First, the evidence does not support a finding that Santiago was 
without fault in bringing about the difficulty.  Santiago had gone to Wisn’s 
house with a loaded gun in his vehicle, and that weapon was apparently 
observed by Wisn as he lifted Santiago’s belongings into the car.  Although 
Santiago asserted that Wisn verbally berated him as he looked for his favorite 
belt, these words were never accompanied by a hostile act. While we 
recognize that, depending on the circumstances, words accompanied by 
hostile acts may establish self-defense, there was no evidence of a hostile act 
by Wisn. See State v. Fuller, 297 S.C. 440, 444, 377 S.E.2d 328, 331 (1989); 
State v. Harvey, 220 S.C. 506, 518, 68 S.E.2d 409, 414 (1951) (“[W]here 
death is caused by the use of a deadly weapon, words alone, however 
opprobrious, are not sufficient to constitute a legal provocation.”). 

Santiago argues the hostile act occurred when Wisn looked at the gun, 
looked at Santiago, and then looked at the gun again.  This bare assertion is 
insufficient to establish a hostile act by Wisn.  Santiago never claimed Wisn 
made a move for the gun before Santiago took it from the trunk.  Even 
assuming, as Santiago testified, that Wisn reached for the gun while in 
Santiago’s hands, he did so after Santiago brought about the difficulty by 
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removing the shotgun from the trunk and aiming it at Wisn.4  Therefore, no 
question of fact for the jury is created on the first prong of self-defense. 

While Santiago asserts he actually believed he was in imminent danger, 
the third prong of self-defense cannot be established because a reasonable, 
prudent person of ordinary fitness and courage would not have feared for his 
life or serious bodily injury under the circumstances of this case. Santiago 
testified that he and Wisn had never had a physical altercation, nor had Wisn 
ever threatened to kill or cause serious injury to Santiago before the shooting. 
Additionally, the evidence, taken in the light most favorable to Santiago, 
demonstrates that Wisn merely looked at the shotgun, looked at Santiago, and 
then looked at the shotgun again. Accordingly, no reasonable person would 
have feared for his life simply because of Wisn’s actions of looking. 
Therefore, no question of fact for the jury is created on this element of self-
defense. 

Finally, the fourth prong of self-defense cannot be satisfied because 
Santiago had other probable means of avoiding the danger. If the defendant 
provokes or initiates the assault, he cannot invoke self-defense; however, he 
may restore his right to self-defense if he withdraws from the conflict and 
communicates that decision to his adversary. State v. Bryant, 336 S.C. 340, 
345, 520 S.E.2d 319, 322 (1999). Because Santiago was not on his property, 
he had a duty to retreat. See Fuller, 297 S.C. at 444, 377 S.E.2d at 331. 
Taken in the light most favorable to Santiago, the record indicates that when 
Wisn was shot, Santiago stood at the back of his car and Wisn stood in the 
front. Due to the distance between the two men at the time of the shooting, 
Santiago could have retreated with the shotgun rather than shooting Wisn. 

  This is not a case where Santiago was justified in using deadly force before 
his adversary could “get the drop on him.” In Starnes, 340 S.C. at 322, 531 
S.E.2d at 913, and State v. Hendrix, 270 S.C. 653, 661, 244 S.E.2d 503, 507 
(1978), the defendant’s adversary was already armed, or the defendant 
believed his adversary was already armed, when the defendant fired. Here, 
there is no indication that Wisn was armed or that Santiago believed 
otherwise. 
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Moreover, Santiago simply could have avoided the danger by closing his 
trunk. See Bryant, 336 S.C. at 345, 520 S.E.2d at 322 (stating appellant 
easily could have avoided the conflict by leaving the open parking lot where 
the situation arose). Further, because Wisn was unarmed, Santiago had 
multiple opportunities to escape his perceived peril without resorting to firing 
his weapon, let alone firing it four times. Therefore, no question of fact for 
the jury is created on this prong of self-defense. 

Because the record demonstrates as a matter of law the absence of at 
least one element of self-defense, the trial judge did not err in refusing to 
charge self-defense. 

II. Dr. Schwartz-Watts’s Testimony   

Santiago next argues the trial judge erred in refusing to allow Schwartz-
Watts to testify that because of Santiago’s asperger’s disorder he did not have 
the requisite mental state to commit murder nor the ability to provide a 
voluntary confession.  Santiago attempted to call Schwartz-Watts as a witness 
during his case, but the trial judge refused to allow the testimony.  We find no 
reversible error. 

The admission or exclusion of evidence is left to the sound discretion 
of the trial judge. State v. Gaster, 349 S.C. 545, 557, 564 S.E.2d 87, 93 
(2002); State v. Horton, 359 S.C. 555, 566, 598 S.E.2d 279, 285 (Ct. App. 
2004). A trial judge’s ruling on the admissibility of evidence will not be 
reversed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion. State v. Mansfield, 343 
S.C. 66, 77, 538 S.E.2d 257, 263 (Ct. App. 2000).  An abuse of discretion 
occurs when the trial judge’s ruling is based on an error of law. Id.  For an 
error to warrant reversal, however, the error must result in prejudice to the 
appellant.  Id.  Evidence is relevant if it has “any tendency to make[] the 
existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action 
more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence.” Rule 
401, SCRE. An expert witness qualified by knowledge, skill, experience, 
training, or education may testify to assist the jury in understanding the 
evidence or determining an issue before them.  Rule 702, SCRE. 
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A. Santiago’s Mental State During the Commission of the Crime 

On appeal, Santiago argues the trial court erred in refusing to allow the 
testimony of Schwartz-Watts because the evidence was relevant to Santiago’s 
mental state, both at the time he made the statement to police and at the time 
of the shooting. At trial, defense counsel offered Schwartz-Watts as an 
expert witness to testify that Santiago’s asperger’s disorder caused him to 
fear for his life, and accordingly, Santiago did not have the requisite mental 
state to commit murder. Essentially, defense counsel argued that Santiago 
was culpable of a lesser offense because of his diminished capacity. 
However, the diminished capacity defense is not recognized in South 
Carolina. Gill v. State, 346 S.C. 209, 220, 552 S.E.2d 26, 32 (2001).  In Gill, 
defense counsel wanted a forensic psychiatrist to testify that because Gill had 
a low IQ, he did not have the requisite mental state to commit murder.  The 
supreme court held the trial judge properly excluded this testimony because 
South Carolina does not recognize the diminished capacity defense.  Thus, 
the trial judge did not commit an abuse of discretion when she refused to 
allow Schwartz-Watts to testify regarding Santiago’s diminished capacity. 

B. Voluntariness of Santiago’s Statements to Police 

Santiago also argues that Schwartz-Watts’s testimony was relevant to 
his mental state at the time he made the statement to the police.  Initially, we 
question whether this issue is preserved for our review. 

As a general rule, if an issue was not raised and ruled upon below, it 
will not be considered for the first time on appeal. State v. Dunbar, 356 S.C. 
138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 693 (2003); State v. Passmore, 363 S.C. 568, 584, 
611 S.E.2d 273, 281 (Ct. App. 2005). Our courts have “consistently refused 
to apply the plain error rule.” Jackson v. Speed, 326 S.C. 289, 306, 486 
S.E.2d 750, 759 (1997) (citations omitted).  Instead, “it is the responsibility 
of counsel to preserve issues for appellate review.” Id.  Moreover, a proffer 
of testimony is required to preserve the issue of whether testimony was 
properly excluded by the trial judge, and an appellate court will not consider 
error alleged in the exclusion of testimony unless the record on appeal shows 
fairly what the excluded testimony would have been.  State v. Roper, 274 
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S.C. 14, 20, 206 S.E.2d 705, 708 (1974); State v. King, 367 S.C. 131, 136, 
623 S.E.2d 865, 868 (Ct. App. 2005). 

Here, the trial court conducted a Jackson v. Denno5 hearing prior to 
trial.  In that hearing, Santiago challenged the voluntariness of the statements 
made shortly after the shooting; however, at no point in the hearing did 
Santiago offer the testimony of Schwartz-Watts on the issue of how his 
asperger’s syndrome affected the voluntariness of his statement.  As the trial 
proceeded, Santiago sought to introduce the testimony of Schwartz-Watts 
prior to his own testimony. The trial judge stated such testimony would be 
premature until after Santiago testified if he chose to do so.  However, the 
trial judge stated: “It is my understanding, based on the information I have 
had the benefit of in chambers, that counsel would have intended to call Dr. 
Schwartz-Watts for the purpose of describing or explaining Mr. Santiago’s 
mode of communications, mode of testifying, why he projects himself as he 
does.” Neither prior to nor in response to this statement by the court, did 
Santiago raise the issue of how Schwartz-Watts’s testimony would impact the 
voluntariness of his confession. 

After Santiago testified, the trial judge found the testimony of 
Schwartz-Watts was inadmissible but allowed Santiago’s counsel to proffer 
his arguments for the record. Counsel for Santiago stated three reasons for 
Schwartz-Watts’s testimony: 

My intent, originally, for calling her was . . . while 
[Santiago] is ordinary and reasonable, he has this 
developmental disorder . . . that effects his individual 
perception. 
. . . 
My second aspect of calling Dr. Schwartz-Watts 
would be to comment on his mental state as per it 
would relate to provocation and heat of passion under 
a charge for voluntary manslaughter. 
. . . 

5 378 U.S. 368 (1964). 
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The third and final proffer would be for her to 
explain [Santiago’s] affect and appearance in court 
and dealing with his issuing a statement as he did 
based on his perceptions of his not being treated well, 
being messed with, his rights being violated, et 
cetera, et cetera. That’s the entire proffer for the 
record. 

It is apparent from the proffer that Schwartz-Watts would have testified 
as to Santiago’s mental capacity, his perceptions at the shooting, his in-court 
demeanor, and his mental state as it relates to voluntary manslaughter. 
Although defense counsel mentioned Santiago’s “issuing a statement as he 
did,” counsel never argued Schwartz-Watts’s testimony would be relevant to 
the jury’s determination of whether Santiago’s confession was voluntary. 
Santiago only sought to introduce Schwartz-Watts’s testimony on issues 
related to mental capacity, not on the issue of voluntariness, and the trial 
court never ruled on the admissibility of Schwartz-Watts’s testimony on the 
issue of voluntariness. Therefore, the issue is arguably not preserved for our 
review. 

Moreover, even if the issue was preserved for our review, we find any 
error in failing to allow Schwartz-Watts to testify to be harmless.  See State 
v. Miller, 367 S.C. 329, 332, 626 S.E.2d 328, 332 (2006) (explaining that an 
error is harmless when it could not reasonably have affected the result of the 
trial).  Even without Santiago’s written confession, there is overwhelming 
evidence of Santiago’s guilt. Shortly after the shooting, Santiago turned 
himself in at the fire station where he told the firemen present that he just 
shot someone on Hilton Head, and that the weapon used in the shooting was 
in his car. Furthermore, Santiago testified at trial that he shot Wisn on the 
day in question. This is not a case where the perpetrator’s identity is at issue 
or where Santiago’s confession was a pivotal piece of evidence against him. 
Therefore, even if the trial judge erred in declining to allow  Schwartz-Watts 
to testify about how Santiago’s syndrome affected the voluntariness of his 
statement, the error was harmless given the overwhelming evidence of 
Santiago’s guilt. 
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CONCLUSION 

For the aforementioned reasons, Santiago’s conviction is hereby 

AFFIRMED. 

 KITTREDGE, J., concurs. 

ANDERSON, J. (dissenting in a separate opinion): I 
disagree with the reasoning and analysis of the majority. I VOTE to 
REVERSE. 
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I. Self-Defense 

I agree with Santiago that the trial judge erred in refusing to charge the 
jury on self-defense. The evidence supports a self-defense charge.     

To establish self-defense, a defendant must show: (1) he was without 
fault in bringing on the difficulty; (2) he actually believed he was in 
imminent danger of losing his life or sustaining serious bodily injury; (3) a 
reasonable, prudent person of ordinary fitness and courage would have 
entertained the same belief; and (4) the defendant had no other probable 
means of avoiding the danger of losing his life or sustaining serious bodily 
injury other than to act as he did. Jackson v. State, 355 S.C. 568, 570-71, 586 
S.E.2d 562, 562 (2003); State v. Day, 341 S.C. 410, 416, 535 S.E.2d 431, 434 
(2000); State v. Bryant, 336 S.C. 340, 344-45, 520 S.E.2d 319, 321-22 
(1999); State v. Wiggins, 330 S.C. 538, 545, 500 S.E.2d 489, 493 (1998); 
State v. Long, 325 S.C. 59, 62, 480 S.E.2d 62, 63 (1997); State v. Bruno, 322 
S.C. 534, 536, 473 S.E.2d 450, 451 (1996); State v. Goodson, 312 S.C. 278, 
280, 440 S.E.2d 370, 372 (1994); State v. Hill, 315 S.C. 260, 262, 433 S.E.2d 
848, 849 (1993); Robinson v. State, 308 S.C. 74, 79, 417 S.E.2d 88, 91 
(1992); State v. Fuller, 297 S.C. 440, 442, 377 S.E.2d 328, 330 (1989); State 
v. Davis, 282 S.C. 45, 46, 317 S.E.2d 452, 453 (1984); State v. Hendrix, 270 
S.C. 653, 657-58, 244 S.E.2d 503, 505 (1978); State v. Slater, 360 S.C. 487, 
491, 602 S.E.2d 90, 91 (Ct. App. 2004). 



Depending on the circumstances, words accompanied by hostile acts 
may establish self-defense.  Fuller, 297 S.C. at 444, 377 S.E.2d at 331; State 
v. Harvey, 220 S.C. 506, 518, 68 S.E.2d 409, 414 (1951), overruled on other 
grounds by State v. Torrence, 305 S.C. 45, 406 S.E.2d 315 (1991) 
(abrogating the doctrine of in favorem vitae); State v. Mason, 115 S.C. 214, 
217, 105 S.E. 286, 286 (1920) (“Words accompanied by hostile acts may, 
according to the circumstances, not only reduce a killing from murder to 
manslaughter, but may establish the plea of self-defense.”).  The defendant 
does not have to wait until his adversary is on equal footing in order to act; 
“he has the right to act under the law of self-preservation and prevent his 
[adversary from] getting the drop on him.”  State v. Starnes, 340 S.C. 312, 
322, 531 S.E.2d 907, 913 (2000); Hendrix, 270 S.C. at 660, 244 S.E.2d at 
507; State v. Rash, 182 S.C. 42, 50, 188 S.E. 435, 438 (1936).  

If the defendant provokes or initiates the assault, he cannot invoke self-
defense; however, he may restore his right to self-defense if he withdraws 
from the conflict and communicates that decision to his adversary.  Slater, 
360 S.C. at 491, 602 S.E.2d at 92-93.  Firing multiple shots does not 
necessarily negate self-defense so long as the defendant is justified in 
“continuing to shoot until it is apparent that the danger to his life and body 
has ceased.” Hendrix, 270 S.C. at 661, 244 S.E.2d at 507 (holding self-
defense was established even though defendant fired four times in rapid 
succession). Furthermore, the unlawful possession of a firearm does not 
automatically bar a self-defense charge. State v. Burriss, 334 S.C. 256, 262, 
513 S.E.2d 104, 108 (1999). 

If a self-defense charge is warranted, the trial court should consider the 
facts and circumstances of the case and fashion an appropriate charge. 
Starnes, 340 S.C. at 322, 531 S.E.2d at 913; Fuller, 297 S.C. at 443, 377 
S.E.2d at 330. “A self-defense charge is erroneous where the trial court fails 
to charge on elements of the defense which were applicable to the issues 
raised by the defendant.” Day, 341 S.C. at 418, 535 S.E.2d at 435. 

Several South Carolina appellate cases are instructive on when 
evidence is sufficient to require a charge on self-defense. In State v. Hill, 315 
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S.C. 260, 433 S.E.2d 848 (1993), Veronica Hill was present outside a 
nightclub when a fight broke out. One of the fighters gave Hill a handgun, 
which she fired in the air when the fight escalated.  “The victim, a spectator 
to the fight, jumped Hill from behind and began wrestling for the weapon. 
The scuffle ended when Hill and victim turned face to face and the gun 
fired.” 315 S.C. at 261, 433 S.E.2d at 848-49.  The trial judge refused to 
charge on self-defense, and the jury convicted Hill of voluntary 
manslaughter. The supreme court held there was evidence to support a self-
defense charge and reversed: 

The relevant question for the Court to answer is whether 
there is any evidence in the record which would support a self-
defense charge. The record shows that Hill fired the gun into the 
air when several of her friends began fighting, and that the shot 
was fired to stop the fighting. It was this gunshot which 
prompted the victim to attempt taking the gun away from Hill. 
The victim, a larger person than Hill, came up behind Hill and 
grabbed her by “the throat.” There was also evidence to support 
the proposition that after a violent struggle, the victim “lost her 
grip” on the gun and was shot. 

This evidence shows that Hill may not have been 
responsible for bringing about the difficulty which resulted in the 
victim’s death. Further, the record supports the conclusion that 
the struggle alone was some evidence that Hill was in fear or 
imminent danger of losing her life or sustaining serious bodily 
injury. The method of victim’s attack from behind is evidence 
that Hill was attempting to retreat, and that Hill had no means of 
avoiding the danger. The size differential between Hill and the 
victim is evidence which would allow a reasonably-prudent 
individual of ordinary firmness and courage to entertain the same 
belief about the danger. 

In reviewing the record, it appears that there was ample 
evidence to support a self-defense charge to the jury. Therefore, 
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the trial judge erred in not granting Hill’s request to charge self-
defense to the jury. 

Hill, 315 S.C. at 262-63, 433 S.E.2d at 849. 

State v. Bruno, 322 S.C. 534, 473 S.E.2d 450 (1996), involved a trial 
court’s refusal to charge on self-defense. A jury convicted Bruno of murder 
for shooting the victim, James Murphy.  Bruno argued the trial court erred by 
refusing his additional charge on self-defense: that he had no duty to retreat if 
retreating would place him in danger. The supreme court, however, found 
that Bruno was not entitled to a charge on self-defense at all. 

Bruno was not entitled to a self-defense charge, because he 
presented no evidence that he believed he was in imminent 
danger of losing his life or sustaining serious bodily injury. On 
direct examination, his only testimony was that he felt Victim 
was coming at him with something.  He testified, “It happened so 
quick, you know. I didn’t mean to kill him.  I just wanted him to 
keep away from me.” Furthermore, when asked what was his 
intention in firing the weapon, Bruno responded, “Just let him 
know to try to stay away from me and not mess with me.”  On 
cross-examination, Bruno stated that Victim was “getting in his 
trunk and he came towards me and something snapped and I shot 
him.” 

Since Bruno presented no evidence . . . that he believed he 
was in imminent danger of losing his life or sustaining serious 
bodily injury, he fails the second element of self-defense. See 
State v. Goodson, 312 S.C. 278, 440 S.E.2d 370 (1994). 
Accordingly, the trial court’s failure to charge no duty to retreat 
was not in error as Bruno was not entitled to a self-defense 
charge. 

Bruno, 322 S.C. at 536-37, 473 S.E.2d at 452 (footnote omitted). 
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The supreme court, in State v. Bryant, 336 S.C. 340, 520 S.E.2d 319 
(1999), affirmed the trial court’s refusal to give the jury a self-defense 
instruction.  Lavar Bryant admitted to killing the victim, but gave several 
conflicting statements of the events.  The victim, a DHEC employee, 
approached Bryant in the DHEC parking lot as Bryant was breaking into the 
victim’s car. Bryant had a knife, but dropped it and instead stabbed the 
victim several times with a screwdriver. The Bryant court found a self-
defense charge was properly declined. 

Appellant’s statements fail to establish the elements of self-
defense entitling appellant to a self-defense charge. No question 
of fact for the jury is created on this issue.  Appellant concedes he 
brought on the initial difficulty by breaking into Suber’s vehicle. 
Even if appellant subjectively meant to withdraw from the 
conflict he failed to communicate this intent to Suber.  Although 
in one statement appellant claimed he dropped the knife because 
he did not want to fight, appellant admitted Suber did not see him 
drop the knife. Thus, Suber was unaware of appellant’s intent to 
withdraw from the conflict. Further, appellant never told Suber 
he was leaving and did not want to fight.  If appellant truly 
intended to withdraw he could have easily left the open parking 
lot. See Macias v. State, 36 Ariz. 140, 283 P. 711 (1929) (a man 
who is a trespasser and in a place where he has no right to be may 
not stand his ground and slay his assailant and still claim self-
defense, when by leaving such place he might avoid the conflict). 
Because appellant failed to effectively communicate to Suber his 
intent to withdraw from the conflict, appellant’s right to use self-
defense was never restored. Appellant, as the aggressor, 
remained responsible for bringing on the difficulty. 

Bryant, 336 S.C. at 345-46, 520 S.E.2d at 322. 

In State v. Day, 341 S.C. 410, 535 S.E.2d 431 (2000), the supreme 
court reversed Raymond Day’s murder conviction for, among other reasons, 
the trial court’s failure to charge self-defense.  The victim, Wayne Renew, 
had hired Day to kill Renew’s ex-girlfriend, Debra Bouchillon.  Day was to 
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murder Bouchillon and meet Renew on a dirt road after the killing.  However, 
Day, who previously had been romantically involved with Bouchillon, had a 
change of heart. He did go to Bouchillon’s home, but he informed her of the 
conspiracy and made an anonymous phone call to the police regarding the 
plot. Day and Bouchillon decided to meet Renew on the dirt road so that 
Renew would believe Day had gone through with the murder.  Bouchillon 
rode along, but hid in the back seat of the car under several blankets. Day 
informed Renew he had killed Bouchillon.  The two returned to their cars and 
drove away. Day followed Renew, and Renew stopped his car and motioned 
to Day. At this point 

Day became frightened because he thought Renew had figured 
out he had been duped. According to Day, 

I was talking to Wayne listening to what he said and 
looking, and then I just caught it out of the corner of 
my eye, the blankets coming up and came up and 
went down real quick and I saw Mr. Renew reach for 
a gun . . . and I saw Mr. Renew go like this 
(indicating). And by the time he had come up, I had 
shot him. I really thought he had a gun. I re-live that 
moment every day. 

Day, 341 S.C. at 415, 535 S.E.2d at 433. The trial judge refused to charge 
the jury on self-defense. However, the jury inquired about self-defense law, 
and in response, the judge gave a self-defense instruction. 

The supreme court ruled the initial refusal to charge on self-defense 
was error. 

“If there is any evidence in the record from which it could 
reasonably be inferred that the defendant acted in self-defense, 
the defendant is entitled to instructions on the defense, and the 
trial judge’s refusal to do so is reversible error.”  State v. Muller, 
282 S.C. 10, 316 S.E.2d 409 (1984). There is sufficient evidence 
in the instant case to support a charge on self-defense.  Day 
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testified he believed he was in imminent danger because he 
thought Renew was going to pull a gun on him.  Day gave the 
following testimony about the fatal incident: 

I pulled in and turned around and pulled in front of 
him [Renew] and I walked to the truck and he said 
something and I said something and he pulled a gun 
on me. I pulled Debbie’s gun out and shot him in 
the head the first shot and I don’t know where the last 
stuff, the first shot went. 

According to Day’s theory, Renew was a violent drug 
abuser who had a history of violence against him and others. 
Day knew that Renew had a tendency to violently overreact, and 
when he thought Renew saw Bouchillon move under the 
blankets, he believed he was in imminent danger and shot Renew 
to defend himself. 

Day presented an evidence based theory as to what 
occurred that evening. Although some of the evidence was 
disputed, there was certainly enough evidence in this case to 
make self-defense a jury question.  Defense counsel felt so 
strongly about the trial judge’s refusal to give a self-defense 
instruction that she moved for a mistrial. She convincingly 
argued that the trial judge cast aside Day’s entire defense and 
removed it from the jury’s consideration. 

. . . . 

Day argues the trial judge erred by refusing to instruct the 
jury that Day did not have the burden of proving self-defense, 
and that the jury could consider past difficulties between the 
parties in weighing self-defense. We agree. 

The trial judge initially refused to charge the jury on self-
defense. However, the jury inquired about the South Carolina 
law on self defense. The jury wrote: “What does the State of 
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South Carolina have to say when a person can defend themself 
[sic] with the use of deadly force. May we see a copy of the law 
concerning this?” In response, the trial judge charged the jury a 
standard self-defense instruction as outlined by this Court in State 
v. Davis, 282 S.C. 45, 317 S.E.2d 452 (1984) along with a 
specific charge on the right to act on appearances and the duty to 
retreat. The trial judge did not include in his instruction Day’s 
Request to Charge Number One (factors that would give Day the 
right to judge Renew’s conduct more harshly, including age 
difference, substance abuse, “bad blood”, prior threats, and 
reputation for violence); Number Two (prior acts of violence and 
prior difficulties between Day and Renew); and Number Eight 
(the State’s burden of proof when a defendant asserts self-
defense). 

The trial judge’s failure to charge on the specific elements 
of self-defense that were applicable to Day’s theory constitutes 
reversible error. As we held in Fuller, a trial judge should 
specifically tailor the self-defense instruction to adequately 
reflect the facts and theories presented by the defendant.  State v. 
Fuller, 297 S.C. 440, 377 S.E.2d 328 (1989).  A self-defense 
charge is erroneous where the trial court fails to charge on 
elements of the defense which were applicable to the issues 
raised by the defendant. Id.  The trial judge’s instruction in this 
case was incomplete. It should have included a charge 
indicating: (1) Day had a right to judge the conduct of Renew 
more harshly than otherwise because of Renew’s drug 
consumption (Defendant’s Request to Charge Number 1); and (2) 
the jury could consider prior instances of violence or unprovoked 
aggression by Renew in determining whether Day had a 
reasonable belief of imminent danger (Defendant’s Request to 
Charge Number 2).  Central to Day’s defense was his argument 
that Renew had previously pulled a gun on him and that Renew 
was in a drug-induced paranoia the day of the incident. The jury 
charge was, therefore, incomplete because the trial judge failed to 
charge on Renew’s substance abuse or his prior acts of violence. 
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The trial judge’s “after-the-fact” self-defense instruction was 
inadequate because defense counsel was unable to present a 
complete defense during her summation. In her closing 
argument, defense counsel could not assert self-defense, even 
though that was Day’s theory, because she knew the trial judge 
was not going to adequately charge the jury. Instead, she was 
forced to present the facts so they implied self-defense, without 
actually saying the word. For example, in her closing defense 
counsel states: 

[Day] knew Wayne to be a violent person who would 
immediately take action against someone who had 
double-crossed him. . . . [H]e told you he saw 
Wayne’s hands come down and he shot him. . . . 
Raymond Day honestly believed that he was reaching 
for a gun. Raymond knew that Wayne carried a gun. 
He knew Wayne carried the gun stuck in the 
waistband of his pants or under the seat and he just 
seen Debbie’s head pop up, he knew he had double-
crossed Wayne Renew and he did what he had to do. 
He honestly believed that was the only course of 
action he could take and he pulled the gun out from 
his waistband where he held it and he had to shoot 
Wayne Renew. 

Defense counsel attempted to make a case for self-defense 
but was restricted because she knew the jury was not going to be 
so charged. The trial judge belatedly recognized that a self-
defense charge was necessary. Providing an “after-the-fact” 
instruction was inadequate because the prejudice to Day was 
incurable.  Day was unable to adequately assert a complete 
defense during the trial, and the jury was left with the impression 
that the trial judge did not think the law of self-defense was 
applicable to the case. 
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Day, 341 S.C. at 416-19, 535 S.E.2d at 434-36 (alterations in original) 
(footnote omitted). 

In State v. Slater, 360 S.C. 487, 602 S.E.2d 90 (Ct. App. 2004), a 
divided court of appeals reversed the trial judge’s failure to charge the jury on 
self-defense. Slater explained that following a school dance, he noticed a 
disturbance in a nearby parking lot. Slater and several friends went to the 
parking lot to investigate and discovered a robbery transpiring. Five men 
were kicking the victim as he lay on the ground. The court summarized 
Slater’s testimony as follows: 

Slater testified that he walked up to the robbery and 
surprised one of the attackers. The man then turned around and 
pointed a gun toward Slater. Slater quickly turned around and 
started running back toward his car. As he ran, he heard a 
gunshot and responded by shooting his own gun behind him. 
Slater got into the car where his friends were waiting for him.  He 
continued shooting in the air as the car pulled away. In the 
ensuing chaos, the victim of the attempted robbery lay dying on 
the ground. He had been shot twice. 

360 S.C. at 489, 602 S.E.2d at 92 (footnote omitted).  The trial judge refused 
to charge the jury on self-defense. We held this was error: 

Here, there was some evidence to support a self-defense 
charge. Slater maintains that when he approached the altercation 
between the victim and his attackers, an attacker pointed a gun at 
Slater. Slater then turned and ran. While running away, Slater 
heard gunshots and returned fire, not looking in the direction 
where he was firing. Slater testified, “when I walked up on him, 
I guess I surprised him and he turned to me and he had a gun in 
his hand. And I see his gun and I started running.” He added, 
“Yeah, when I walked up on him like here, like he turned to me, 
like had the gun pointed at me like he surprised.”  Additionally, 
Mark Nelson, a friend of the victim, testified that he saw one of 
the attackers—someone other than Slater—with a gun. 
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360 S.C. at 491, 602 S.E.2d at 93.  Accordingly, we reversed. 

State v. Light, 363 S.C. 325, 610 S.E.2d 504 (Ct. App. 2005), involved 
the appeal of Michael Light who was convicted for murdering his girlfriend, 
Priscilla Davis.  Light admitted to shooting Davis but claimed that Davis first 
threatened him with the gun: “She was pointing [the rifle] at me and 
screaming and hollering and accusing me as usual . . . . I was afraid she was 
going to shoot me.” Light averred: 

The only thing I remember, I did try—I took my left hand to 
knock it away, try to push it away from me. Than [sic] after I 
jerked it away from her, I did stumble back several feet, you 
know after jerking it. The weapon discharged but it was not 
intentionally.  

. . . . 

Q. Did she back away from you?  Did you back away from her? 

A. I went back from her after we was tussling with the rifle.  

Light, 363 S.C. at 329, 610 S.E.2d at 506 (alteration in original). 

The trial judge charged the jury on murder, voluntary manslaughter, 
and accident. Light appealed, maintaining the court erred in denying his 
request for a charge on self-defense. We disagreed: 

Although Light vacillates in his various accounts, he stated 
he had disarmed Davis and taken possession of the rifle when the 
shot was fired. Under those facts, Davis, then unarmed, no 
longer posed a threat to the armed Light and he could not have 
reasonably believed she did. Therefore, the evidence 
demonstrates he did not have the right to use deadly force in self-
defense and the trial court properly refused to so charge the jury. 
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Light, 363 S.C. at 333, 610 S.E.2d at 508. 

A review of the foregoing precedent demonstrates the trial judge should 
have charged the jury on self-defense. The standard for giving a self-defense 
charge is critical in this case. 

The evidence presented at trial determines the law to be charged. State 
v. White, 361 S.C. 407, 412, 605 S.E.2d 540, 542 (2004); State v. Light, 363 
S.C. 325, 330, 610 S.E.2d 504, 506 (Ct. App. 2005).  An appellate court will 
not reverse the trial judge’s decision regarding jury charges absent an abuse 
of discretion. State v. Williams, 367 S.C. 192, 624 S.E.2d 443 (Ct. App. 
2005). However, if there is any evidence to support a jury charge, the trial 
judge should grant the requested charge. Burriss, 334 S.C. at 262, 513 S.E.2d 
at 108. “If there is any evidence in the record to support self-defense, the 
issue should be submitted to the jury.”  State v. Burkhart, 350 S.C. 252, 260, 
565 S.E.2d 298, 302 (2002) (emphasis added); accord Day, 341 S.C. at 416, 
535 S.E.2d at 434; Burriss, 334 S.C. at 262, 513 S.E.2d at 108 (1999); Hill, 
315 S.C. at 261, 433 S.E.2d at 849; State v. Muller, 282 S.C. 10, 10, 316 
S.E.2d 409, 409 (1984); cf. Goodson, 312 S.C. at 280, 440 S.E.2d at 372 
(noting a self-defense charge is not required unless the evidence supports it). 

In general, the trial judge is required to charge only the current 
and correct law of South Carolina. A jury charge is correct if it 
contains the correct definition of the law when read as a whole. 
The substance of the law must be charged to the jury, not 
particular verbiage. Current law requires the State to disprove 
self-defense, once raised by the defendant, beyond a reasonable 
doubt. Finally, to warrant reversal, a trial judge’s refusal to give 
a requested charge must be both erroneous and prejudicial. 

Burkhart, 350 S.C. at 261, 565 S.E.2d at 302-03 (internal quotation marks 
and citations omitted). The trial court commits reversible error if it fails to 
give a charge on an issue raised by the evidence and requested by the 
defendant. Hill, 315 S.C. at 262, 433 S.E.2d at 849; State v. Lee, 298 S.C. 
362, 364, 380 S.E.2d 834, 836 (1989). “If there is any evidence in the record 
from which it could reasonably be inferred that the defendant acted in self
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defense, the defendant is entitled to instructions on the defense, and the trial 
judge’s refusal to do so is reversible error.”  Day, 341 S.C. at 416-17, 535 
S.E.2d at 434 (citing State v. Muller, 282 S.C. 10, 316 S.E.2d 409 (1984)). 

First, there is evidence that Santiago was not at fault in bringing about 
the difficulty.  The trial judge stated that “the only difficulty that existed—the 
defendant has testified regarding the only difficulty was that Mr. Wisn was 
swearing at him, wasn’t threatening. Just said, stay away from my daughter; 
stay away from my house.” I disagree with the court’s characterization of the 
evidence. Santiago and Wisn went into the house to search for Santiago’s 
belt, but the encounter soon deteriorated with Wisn yelling at Santiago: “And 
he walked down the steps down in the driveway with me but the whole time 
he’s—it’s like screaming and—at my back, don’t—you know, don’t ever 
come on my fucking property again and stay the fuck away from my 
daughter.” According to Santiago, “I didn’t even stop to pick up my stuff. 
Because I ain’t even gonna stop with that dude behind me.” However, Wisn 
picked up Santiago’s belongings, walked to the back of Santiago’s car, and 
“threw the plastic container in the trunk.  And then he threw in the garden 
hose in the trunk. All the while he’s still cursing at me.”  Wisn then spotted 
the shotgun. According to Santiago, Wisn “looked over at my gun, and then 
he looked back at me. And then he looked at the gun again and stopped.” 
Santiago snatched up the shotgun and began backing away, but Wisn pursued 
him: “[H]e turned towards me and said, ‘Don’t be fucking stupid,’ like that, 
like he was gonna grab it.” (Emphasis added.) On cross-examination, 
Santiago explained, “[H]e said, ‘Don’t be fucking stupid.’ And he didn’t say 
to like protect me from myself. He said it as an insult and he was coming 
from—with his hands in the thing [sic] towards me and stepping towards 
me at the same time.” (Emphasis added.)  Thus, in addition to the hostile 
words, Wisn threw Santiago’s things into his trunk and eyed the gun.  The 
fact that Santiago picked up the gun does not negate his self-defense claim 
because a defendant “has the right to act under the law of self-preservation 
and prevent his [adversary from] getting the drop on him.”  Starnes, 340 S.C. 
at 322, 531 S.E.2d at 913. It would be absurd for the law to require Santiago 
to wait for Wisn, a man twice Santiago’s size, to grab for the gun before 
Santiago could reach for it. Most importantly, as Santiago stepped away, 
Wisn advanced towards him, reaching for the gun. Santiago’s version of the 
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events sufficiently establishes some evidence that Santiago was not at fault in 
bringing about the difficulty. 

Second, Santiago believed he was in imminent danger.  On direct 
examination, counsel asked, “What was going through your mind at the time” 
of the shooting. Santiago replied, “I did not want to be killed.  And I didn’t 
want to be killed by my own gun. And this dude is twice as big as me and if 
he grabbed it, there’s no way I could wrestle it away from him.” The circuit 
judge apparently found that Santiago actually believed he was in imminent 
danger of losing his life or sustaining serious bodily injury when he picked up 
the gun, but found that “clearly at the point in time that he has the gun and he 
has backed away from Mr. Wisn, then he is no longer, can no longer be in 
imminent danger.” This was error. The question is whether Santiago 
continued to believe he was in imminent danger between the time he picked 
up the gun and the time he shot Wisn. According to Santiago, that window of 
time lasted a “second,” and during that short span of time Wisn was 
advancing towards Santiago. Santiago’s testimony constitutes evidence he 
actually believed he was in imminent danger when he shot Wisn. 

Third, the trial judge opined, “I do not believe there’s evidence in this 
record that a reasonably prudent person of ordinary firmness and courage 
would entertain the same belief” of imminent danger.  However, there is 
evidence that a reasonably prudent person of ordinary firmness and courage 
would have entertained the belief he was in imminent danger.  In Hill, our 
supreme court stated that “size differential between [the defendant] and the 
victim is evidence which would allow a reasonably-prudent individual of 
ordinary firmness and courage to entertain the same belief about the danger.” 
315 S.C. at 262, 433 S.E.2d at 849. The State did not dispute Santiago’s 
testimony that Wisn was “twice as big” as Santiago.  Additionally, the harsh 
way in which Wisn spoke to Santiago, coupled with Wisn’s acts of following 
Santiago to his car, throwing his belongings into the trunk, and stepping 
toward him is evidence that a reasonably prudent person would entertain a 
fear of imminent danger. The trial judge did not state any specific reasons 
why she believed Santiago’s fear was unreasonable under the reasonably 
prudent person standard. 
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Finally, Santiago had no other probable means of avoiding the danger. 
Santiago left the house, but Wisn followed him.  The judge concluded that 
once Santiago had the gun, he “was exercising a means of avoiding the 
danger, which means at that point there could be no justification in even 
proceeding to shoot Mr. Wisn four times.”  This conclusion, however, 
ignores Santiago’s testimony that Wisn continued to come toward him. 
Santiago attempted to retreat up the point where Wisn was about to come into 
physical contact with him. These facts make the instant case distinguishable 
from Light. In Light, the defendant wrestled a gun away from his girlfriend 
and testified that after he obtained control of the gun he stumbled back 
“several feet” when the gun accidentally discharged.  363 S.C. at 329, 610 
S.E.2d at 506. The court concluded that once Light had disarmed the victim, 
she “no longer posed a threat to the armed Light and he could not have 
reasonably believed she did.” Id. at 333, 610 S.E.2d at 508. Significantly, 
Light did not claim that he shot the victim as she was advancing toward him, 
but maintained that the shooting was accidental.  Thus, there was no evidence 
in Light that the victim posed a threat of imminent harm to Light at the 
moment she was shot. Here, Wisn was allegedly advancing toward Santiago 
when Santiago shot him. The evidence suggests that Santiago reached the 
point of retreat where he had to discharge the gun or be overpowered by 
Wisn. 

For the purposes of determining whether a charge on the law of self-
defense is warranted, Santiago’s credibility is not relevant.  The court should 
look only to whether any evidence exists to support the charge.  Where, as 
here, the defense introduces some evidence to support the charge, it is the 
jury’s responsibility to determine whether the defendant’s account of the 
events is believable and whether his actions were truly in self-defense. In the 
case sub judice, the trial judge committed reversible error by invading the 
province of the jury and failing to give a self-defense charge. The failure to 
charge is patently prejudicial and is reversible error as a jury could have 
found Santiago was justified in killing Wisn. See Day, 341 S.C. at 416-17, 
535 S.E.2d at 434 (“If there is any evidence in the record from which it could 
reasonably be inferred that the defendant acted in self-defense, the defendant 
is entitled to instructions on the defense, and the trial judge’s refusal to do so 
is reversible error.”). 
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II. Relevance of Schwartz-Watts’s Testimony 

I agree with the majority that the trial judge correctly excluded the 
testimony as to Santiago’s mental state during the commission of the crime. 
However, the trial judge incorrectly excluded Dr. Schwartz-Watt’s testimony 
as to the voluntariness of Santiago’s confession. 

A. Diminished Capacity 

Schwartz-Watts would have opined that Asperger’s Disorder caused 
Santiago to fear for his life and that consequently, he did not have the 
requisite mental state to commit murder.  However, the diminished capacity 
defense is not recognized in South Carolina. 

South Carolina Code Annotated section 17-24-10 (2003) provides an 
affirmative defense if, “at the time of the commission of the act constituting 
the offense, the defendant, as a result of mental disease or defect, lacked the 
capacity to distinguish moral or legal right from moral or legal wrong or to 
recognize the particular act charged as morally or legally wrong.”  In addition 
to an insanity defense, certain jurisdictions acknowledge what Professor 
LaFave calls “partial responsibility”—a doctrine applicable to a defendant 
who 

may have been suffering from an abnormal mental condition 
which was not of a kind or character to afford him a successful 
insanity defense under the right-wrong test or other standard 
applicable in that jurisdiction.  But, while this defendant is 
therefore ineligible for a finding of not guilty by reason of 
insanity, his mental abnormality may nonetheless be a most 
relevant consideration in the determination of whether he is 
guilty of the crime charged. 

64




Wayne R. LaFave, Substantive Criminal Law § 9.2. Our courts, however, 
have clearly rejected application of the concept. 

In Gill v. State, 346 S.C. 209, 552 S.E.2d 26 (2001), a forensic 
psychiatrist, Morgan, testified that Gill had a borderline intellectual capacity 
and possessed an antisocial personality.  Dr. Morgan asseverated Gill could 
not formulate malice aforethought. Gill requested a charge on diminished 
capacity, which the trial judge refused.  The supreme court held diminished 
capacity is not recognized in South Carolina: 

The diminished capacity doctrine allows a defendant to offer 
evidence of his mental condition with respect to his capacity to 
achieve the mens rea required for the commission of the offense 
charged. 21 Am.Jur.2d Criminal Law § 38 (1998). In particular, 
the defense may be invoked to negate specific intent, where such 
intent is an element of the offense charged. Id.  Diminished 
capacity differs from the insanity defense in that it may be raised 
by a defendant who has conceded to be legally sane. Id. 

The trial judge did not err by refusing to charge diminished 
capacity because it is not recognized in South Carolina. 
Furthermore, according to this Court in State v. Fuller, 229 S.C. 
439, 93 S.E.2d 463 (1956), a defendant is not entitled to an 
instruction concerning his capacity to form the requisite intent for 
malice aforethought when the instructions, taken as a whole, 
properly present elements of malice.  Gill received proper jury 
charges on murder, voluntary manslaughter, ABIK, insanity, and 
self defense. These jury charges, taken as a whole, were 
sufficient because they adequately presented the elements of 
malice as recognized by South Carolina law. 

Gill, 346 S.C. at 220, 552 S.E.2d at 32. 

Schwartz-Watts sought to establish that due to Santiago’s Asperger’s 
Disorder, he did not have possess the mental state required for murder—in 
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other words, that Santiago suffered from a diminished mental capacity. The 
trial judge did not abuse her discretion by refusing to allow this testimony.   

B. Voluntariness of Santiago’s Confession to Police 

1. Proffer of the Expert’s Testimony 

The defense requested that the court allow Schwartz-Watts to testify as 
to her opinion that Santiago’s Asperger’s Disorder rendered his confession 
involuntarily. Specifically, counsel stated, 

The third and final proffer would be for her [explanation 
of] Chris’ affect and appearance in court and his dealing with his 
issuing a statement as he did based on his perceptions of his not 
being treated well, being messed with, his rights violated, et 
cetera, et cetera. 

Defense counsel did not proffer Schwartz-Watts’s testimony, but rather 
informed the trial judge of what her testimony would have been.  Generally, a 
proffer of testimony is required to preserve the issue of whether testimony 
was properly excluded by the trial judge, and an appellate court will not 
consider error alleged in the exclusion of testimony unless the record on 
appeal shows fairly what the excluded testimony would have been. State v. 
Roper, 274 S.C. 14, 20, 260 S.E.2d 705, 708 (1979); State v. Cox, 258 S.C. 
114, 117, 187 S.E.2d 525, 527 (1972); State v. King, 367 S.C. 131, 623 
S.E.2d 865 (Ct. App. 2005). Here, although defense counsel should have 
proffered Schwartz-Watts’s testimony, I find the record adequately indicates 
what her testimony would have been. Therefore, in my view, this issue is 
preserved for review. 

2. Admissibility of Confessions 

A confession is not admissible unless it was voluntarily made.  State v. 
Von Dohlen, 322 S.C. 234, 243, 471 S.E.2d 689, 694 (1996); State v. 
Compton, 366 S.C. 671, 680, 623 S.E.2d 661, 666 (Ct. App. 2005); see also 
State v. Childs, 299 S.C. 471, 475, 385 S.E.2d 839, 842 (1989) (“The test of 
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admissibility of a statement is voluntariness.”).  “An accused’s involuntary 
statement is inadmissible for any purpose, including impeachment.”  State v. 
Victor, 300 S.C. 220, 223, 387 S.E.2d 248, 249 (1989); see also State v. 
Hook, 348 S.C. 401, 559 S.E.2d 856 (Ct. App. 2001), aff’d as modified, 356 
S.C. 421, 590 S.E.2d 25 (2003). The voluntariness requirement is in addition 
to the intelligent waiver mandate of Miranda. See State v. Middleton, 288 
S.C. 21, 25, 339 S.E.2d 692, 694 (1986) (“In order to secure the admission of 
a defendant’s statement, the State must affirmatively show the statement was 
voluntary and taken in compliance with Miranda.”) (citations omitted).  “It is 
now axiomatic . . . that a defendant in a criminal case is deprived of due 
process of law if his conviction is founded, in whole or in part, upon an 
involuntary confession, without regard for the truth or falsity of the 
confession . . . even though there is ample evidence aside from the confession 
to support the conviction.” Jackson v. Denno, 378 U.S. 368, 376 (1964). 

The requirement that only voluntary confessions be admitted is based 
on the Fifth Amendment’s right against self-incrimination, and was 
incorporated and made applicable to the States through the Fourteenth 
Amendment. See Malloy v. Hogan, 378 U.S. 1, 6 (1964) (“We hold today 
that the Fifth Amendment’s exception from compulsory self-incrimination is 
also protected by the Fourteenth Amendment against abridgment by the 
States.”). In Hook, this Court explained: 

The Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution 
provides, in relevant part, that no person “shall be compelled in 
any criminal case to be a witness against himself.” U.S. Const. 
amend. V. This provision governs state as well as federal 
criminal proceedings. Malloy v. Hogan, 378 U.S. 1, 84 S.Ct. 
1489, 12 L.Ed.2d 653 (1964). Article 1, Section 12, of the South 
Carolina Constitution contains a similar provision.  S.C. Const. 
Art. I, § 12 (“. . . nor shall any person be compelled in any 
criminal case to be a witness against himself.”). 

The Fifth Amendment does not, of course, operate as a 
blanket prohibition against the taking of any and all statements 
made by criminal defendants to law enforcement officials. 
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Volunteered statements, whether exculpatory or inculpatory, 
stemming from custodial interrogation or spontaneously offered 
up, are not barred by the Fifth Amendment. State v. Kennedy, 
325 S.C. 295, 307, 479 S.E.2d 838, 844 (Ct. App. 1996) (citing 
Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436, 86 S.Ct. 1602, 16 L.Ed.2d 694 
(1966)). 

Hook, 348 S.C. at 409-10, 559 S.E.2d at 860. In Hook we observed that the 
“concept that the privilege against self-incrimination encompasses the right to 
be free from being penalized for its exercise is well established.”  Id. at 411, 
559 S.E.2d at 861 (quoting Lefkowitz v. Cunningham, 431 U.S. 801 (1977) 
(“[W]hen a State compels testimony by threatening to inflict potent sanctions 
unless the constitutional privilege is surrendered, that testimony is obtained in 
violation of the Fifth Amendment and cannot be used against the declarant in 
a subsequent criminal prosecution. . . . Similarly, our cases have established 
that a State may not impose substantial penalties because a witness elects to 
exercise his Fifth Amendment right not to give incriminating testimony 
against himself.”)).  The United States Supreme Court, in Jackson v. Denno, 
378 U.S. 368 (1964), elucidated the rationales behind the prohibition against 
involuntary confessions: 

It is now inescapably clear that the Fourteenth Amendment 
forbids the use of involuntary confessions not only because of the 
probable unreliability of confessions that are obtained in a 
manner deemed coercive, but also because of the ‘strongly felt 
attitude of our society that important human values are sacrificed 
where an agency of the government, in the course of securing a 
conviction, wrings a confession out of an accused against his 
will,’ Blackburn v. Alabama, 361 U.S. 199, 206-207, 80 S.Ct. 
274, 280, 4 L.Ed.2d 242, and because of ‘the deep-rooted feeling 
that the police must obey the law while enforcing the law; that in 
the end life and liberty can be as much endangered from illegal 
methods used to convict those thought to be criminals as from the 
actual criminals themselves.’ Spano v. New York, 360 U.S. 315, 
320-321, 79 S.Ct. 1202, 1205-1206, 3 L.Ed.2d 1265.   
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Jackson v. Denno, 378 U.S. at 385-86. 

3. Voluntariness Determinations 

The process for determining whether a statement is voluntary, and thus 
admissible, is bifurcated: it involves determinations by both the judge and the 
jury. First, the trial judge must conduct an evidentiary hearing, outside the 
presence of the jury, where the State must show the confession was 
voluntarily made by a preponderance of the evidence. 

Under Jackson v. Denno, a defendant is entitled to a “reliable 
determination as to the voluntariness of his confession by a tribunal other 
than the jury charged with deciding his guilt or innocence.” State v. Fortner, 
266 S.C. 223, 226, 222 S.E.2d 508, 510 (1976). “A defendant in a criminal 
case is entitled to an independent evidentiary hearing to determine the 
voluntariness of statements made by the defendant prior to the submission of 
such statements to the jury.” State v. Salisbury, 330 S.C. 250, 271, 498 
S.E.2d 655, 666 (Ct. App. 1998), aff’d as modified, 343 S.C. 520, 541 S.E.2d 
247 (2001); see also State v. Creech, 314 S.C. 76, 84, 441 S.E.2d 635, 639 
(Ct. App. 1993) (“Whenever evidence is introduced that was allegedly 
obtained by conduct violative of a defendant’s constitutional rights, the 
defendant is entitled to have the trial judge conduct an evidentiary hearing 
outside of the presence of the jury at the threshold point to establish 
circumstances under which it was gained.”). “In South Carolina, the judge 
makes this initial determination of voluntariness required by Jackson v. 
Denno[.]” Fortner, 266 S.C. at 226-27, 222 S.E.2d at 510. 

The State bears the burden of showing the confession was voluntary. 
Von Dohlen, 322 S.C. at 243, 471 S.E.2d at 695; Washington, 296 S.C. at 55, 
370 S.E.2d at 612; State v. Neeley, 271 S.C. 33, 244 S.E.2d 522 (1978); see 
also Middleston, 288 S.C. at 24, 339 S.E.2d at 694 (“In order to secure the 
admission of a defendant’s statement, the State must affirmatively show the 
statement was voluntary and taken in compliance with Miranda.”). 
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In State v. Washington, 296 S.C. 54, 370 S.E.2d 611 (1988), our 
supreme court addressed the standard of proof applicable to the Jackson v. 
Denno hearing: 

“It has been uniformly held, a confession may be 
introduced upon proof of its voluntariness by a preponderance of 
the evidence.” State v. Smith, 268 S.C. 349, 354, 234 S.E.2d 19, 
21 (1977) (Emphasis supplied). 

“(T)he burden is on the State to prove by a preponderance of the 
evidence that his rights were voluntarily waived.”  State v. 
Neeley, 271 S.C. 33, 40, 244 S.E.2d 522, 526 (1978) (Emphasis 
supplied). 

“(T)he prosecution must prove . . . by a preponderance of the 
evidence that the confession was voluntary.” Lego v. Twomey, 
404 U.S. 477, 489, 92 S.Ct. 619, 627, 30 L.Ed.2d 618, 627 
(1972) (Emphasis supplied). 

See also Colorado v. Connelly, 479 U.S. 515, 107 S.Ct. 515, 93 
L.Ed.2d 473 (1986); State v. Middleton, --- S.C. ---, 368 S.E.2d 
457 (1988); In re Christopher W., 285 S.C. 329, 329 S.E.2d 769 
(Ct. App. 1985). 

Washington, 296 S.C. at 55, 370 S.E.2d 612. Accord State v. Kennedy, 325 
S.C. 295, 479 S.E.2d 838 (Ct. App. 1996). 

During the Jackson v. Denno hearing, the trial judge must examine the 
totality of the circumstances surrounding the confession and determine 
whether the State has carried its burden of showing the confession was 
voluntarily made. State v. Childs, 299 S.C. 471, 475, 385 S.E.2d 839, 842 
(1989); State v. Doby, 273 S.C. 704, 708, 258 S.E.2d 896, 899 (1979) (citing 
Schneckloth v. Bustamonte, 412 U.S. 218 (1973)). 

Once the trial judge determines that the confession is admissible, it is 
up to the jury to ultimately determine whether the confession was voluntarily 
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made. Von Dohlen, 322 S.C. at 243, 471 S.E.2d at 695; State v. Callahan, 
263 S.C. 35, 41, 208 S.E.2d 284, 286 (1974) (“A confession is not admissible 
unless voluntary, and it [is] for the jury to say in the last analysis whether the 
confession [is] or [is] not voluntary.”); State v. Clinkscales, 231 S.C. 650, 
653, 99 S.E.2d 663, 664 (1957) (“Although all the evidence may be to the 
effect that a confession made while under arrest was a voluntary one, the jury 
may not be so convinced; and it is the jury who, in the final analysis, must 
determine the factual issue of voluntariness.”); State v. Brown, 212 S.C. 237, 
246, 47 S.E.2d 521, 525 (1948). 

Nothing in [Jackson v. Denno] questioned the province or 
capacity of juries to assess the truthfulness of confessions. 
Nothing in that opinion took from the jury any evidence relating 
to the accuracy or weight of confessions admitted into evidence. 
A defendant has been as free since Jackson as he was before to 
familiarize a jury with circumstances that attend the taking of his 
confession, including facts bearing upon its weight and 
voluntariness. 

Lego v. Twomey, 404 U.S. 477, 485-86 (1972). Thus, the jury is entitled to 
consider the totality of the circumstances surrounding the confession to 
determine whether the confession was voluntarily made.  State v. Vang, 353 
S.C. 78, 84, 577 S.E.2d 225, 227-28 (Ct. App. 2003). 

Confessions, even those that have been found to be voluntary, are 
not conclusive of guilt. . . . Indeed, stripped of the power to 
describe to the jury the circumstances that prompted his 
confession, the defendant is effectively disabled from answering 
the one question every rational juror needs answered: If the 
defendant is innocent, why did he previously admit his guilt? 
Accordingly, regardless of whether the defendant marshaled the 
same evidence earlier in support of an unsuccessful motion to 
suppress, and entirely independent of any question of 
voluntariness, a defendant’s case may stand or fall on his ability 
to convince the jury that the manner in which the confession was 
obtained casts doubt on its credibility. 
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Crane v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 683, 689 (1986) (citations omitted). 

4. Totality of the Circumstances Test 

The test of voluntariness is “‘whether a defendant’s will was 
overborne’ by the circumstances surrounding the given confession.  The due 
process test takes into consideration ‘the totality of all the surrounding 
circumstances—both the characteristics of the accused and the details of the 
interrogation.’” Dickerson v. United States, 530 U.S. 428, 434 (2000) 
(citations omitted); State v. Aleksey, 343 S.C. 20, 30, 538 S.E.2d 248, 253 
(2000); State v. Linnen, 278 S.C. 175, 179, 293 S.E.2d 851, 853 (1982); State 
v. Gillian, 360 S.C. 433, 558, 602 S.E.2d 62, 76 (Ct. App. 2004); see also 
State v. Myers, 359 S.C. 40, 47, 596 S.E.2d 488, 492 (2004) (“A 
determination whether a confession was ‘given voluntarily requires an 
examination of the totality of the circumstances.’”) (citation omitted); State v. 
Compton, 366 S.C. 671, 680, 623 S.E.2d 661, 666 (Ct. App. 2005) (“The test 
for determining the admissibility of a statement is whether it was knowingly, 
intelligently, and voluntarily given under the totality of the circumstances.”) 
(internal quotation marks and citation omitted).  “‘The trial judge’s 
determination of the voluntariness of a statement must be made on the basis 
of the totality of the circumstances, including the background, experience and 
conduct of the accused.’” State v. Ledford, 351 S.C. 83, 87, 567 S.E.2d 904, 
906 (Ct. App. 2002) (quoting State v. Franklin, 299 S.C. 133, 138, 382 
S.E.2d 911, 914 (1989)); accord Childs, 299 S.C. 471, 475, 385 S.E.2d 839, 
842 (1989); State v. Corns, 310 S.C. 546, 552, 426 S.E.2d 324, 327 (Ct. App. 
1992). “A jury must consider the totality of the circumstances under which a 
statement was given to determine whether it was voluntarily made.” State v. 
Vang, 353 S.C. 78, 84, 577 S.E.2d 225, 227-28 (Ct. App. 2003) (citing State 
v. Torrence, 305 S.C. 45, 52, 406 S.E.2d 315, 319 (1991) (“[T]he jury should 
be instructed that they must find beyond reasonable doubt that the statement 
was freely and voluntarily given under the totality of the circumstances 
before the statement may be considered.”)).  The State must prove to the jury 
that the statement was voluntary beyond a reasonable doubt.  State v. 
Washington, 296 S.C. 54, 55-56, 370 S.E.2d 611, 612 (1988) (citing State v. 
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Drayton, 287 S.C. 226, 337 S.E.2d 216 (1985); State v. Adams, 277 S.C. 115, 
283 S.E.2d 582 (1981)). 

Coercive police activity is a necessary predicate to finding a confession 
is not voluntary. Colorado v. Connelly, 479 U.S. 157 (1986); Linnen, 278 
S.C. 175, 293 S.E.2d 851; Salisbury, 330 S.C. 250, 498 S.E.2d 655. 
Coercion is determined from the perspective of the suspect.  Illinois v. 
Perkins, 496 U.S. 292 (1990). The Supreme Court, in Withrow v. Williams, 
507 U.S. 680 (1993), set forth a non-exclusive list of factors which may be 
considered in the totality-of-the-circumstances analysis: 

Under the due process approach . . . courts look to the totality of 
circumstances to determine whether a confession was voluntary. 
Those potential circumstances include not only the crucial 
element of police coercion, Colorado v. Connelly, 479 U.S. 157, 
167, 107 S.Ct. 515, 521, 93 L.Ed.2d 473 (1986); the length of the 
interrogation, Ashcraft v. Tennessee, 322 U.S. 143, 153-154, 64 
S.Ct. 921, 925-926, 88 L.Ed. 1192 (1944); its location, see Reck 
v. Pate, 367 U.S. 433, 441, 81 S.Ct. 1541, 1546, 6 L.Ed.2d 948 
(1961); its continuity, Leyra v. Denno, 347 U.S. 556, 561, 74 
S.Ct. 716, 719, 98 L.Ed. 948 (1954); the defendant’s maturity, 
Haley v. Ohio, 332 U.S. 596, 599-601, 68 S.Ct. 302, 303-305, 92 
L.Ed. 224 (1948) (opinion of Douglas, J.); education, Clewis v. 
Texas, 386 U.S. 707, 712, 87 S.Ct. 1338, 1341, 18 L.Ed.2d 423 
(1967); physical condition, Greenwald v. Wisconsin, 390 U.S. 
519, 520-521, 88 S.Ct. 1152, 1153-1154, 20 L.Ed.2d 77 (1968) 
(per curiam); and mental health, Fikes v. Alabama, 352 U.S. 191, 
196, 77 S.Ct. 281, 284, 1 L.Ed.2d 246 (1957).  They also include 
the failure of police to advise the defendant of his rights to 
remain silent and to have counsel present during custodial 
interrogation. Haynes v. Washington, 373 U.S. 503, 516-517, 83 
S.Ct. 1336, 1344-1345, 10 L.Ed.2d 513 (1963)[.] 

Withrow, 507 U.S. at 693-94. See also Schneckloth v. Bustamonte, 412 U.S. 
218, 226 (1973) (“In determining whether a defendant’s will was overborne 
in a particular case, the Court has assessed the totality of all the surrounding 
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circumstances-both the characteristics of the accused and the details of the 
interrogation. Some of the factors taken into account have included the youth 
of the accused, e.g., Haley v. Ohio, 332 U.S. 596, 68 S.Ct. 302, 92 L.Ed. 224; 
his lack of education, e.g., Payne v. Arkansas, 356 U.S. 560, 78 S.Ct. 844, 2 
L.Ed.2d 975; or his low intelligence, e.g., Fikes v. Alabama, 352 U.S. 191, 77 
S.Ct. 281, 1 L.Ed.2d 246; the lack of any advice to the accused of his 
constitutional rights, e.g., Davis v. North Carolina, 384 U.S. 737, 86 S.Ct. 
1761, 16 L.Ed.2d 895; the length of detention, e.g., Chambers v. Florida, 
supra; the repeated and prolonged nature of the questioning, e.g., Ashcraft v. 
Tennessee, 322 U.S. 143, 64 S.Ct. 921, 88 L.Ed. 1192; and the use of 
physical punishment such as the deprivation of food or sleep, e.g., Reck v. 
Pate, 367 U.S. 433, 81 S.Ct. 1541, 6 L.Ed.2d 948.  In all of these cases, the 
Court determined the factual circumstances surrounding the confession, 
assessed the psychological impact on the accused, and evaluated the legal 
significance of how the accused reacted. Culombe v. Connecticut, supra, 367 
U.S., at 603, 81 S.Ct., at 1879.”) (footnote omitted). 

The appellate entities of South Carolina have recognized that 
appropriate factors include: background, experience, and conduct of the 
accused; age; length of custody; police misrepresentations; isolation of a 
minor from his or her parent; threats of violence; and promises of leniency. 
See Childs, 299 S.C. at 475, 385 S.E.2d at 842 (background, experience, and 
conduct of the accused); In re Williams, 265 S.C. 295, 217 S.E.2d 719 (1975) 
(age); State v. Jennings, 280 S.C. 62, 309 S.E.2d 759 (1983) (length of 
custody); State v. Rabon, 275 S.C. 459, 461, 272 S.E.2d 634, 635 (1980) 
(police misrepresentations); State v. Smith, 268 S.C. 349, 355, 234 S.E.2d 19, 
21 (1977) (isolation of minor); State v. Rochester, 301 S.C. 196, 200, 391 
S.E.2d 244, 246 (1990) (threats of violence and promises of leniency).  

Furthermore, our courts have recognized the relevance of a factor 
which is crucial to the determination of this case: the mental state of the 
accused. 

In State v. Cain, 246 S.C. 536, 144 S.E.2d 905 (1965), overruled on 
other grounds by State v. Torrence, 305 S.C. 45, 406 S.E.2d 315 (1991) 
(abrogating the doctrine of in favorem vitae), Hershel Cain was convicted of 

74




murder and sentenced to death. The victim, who owned a grocery store and 
filling station, was found lying on the floor of his store, dead from a gunshot 
wound to the chest. Police arrested Cain two days later and he confessed to 
the murder. The officer who took Cain’s statement testified to the facts 
surrounding the confession. “[A]t the time the confession was admitted in 
evidence, the sole testimony before the trial Judge was that such confession 
had been freely and voluntarily made by the appellant. There was no 
testimony to the contrary.” 246 S.C. at 539, 144 S.E.2d at 906.  However, 
prior to the shooting, a doctor diagnosed Cain with a mental condition— 
“schizophrenic reaction of the paranoid type.” Id.  Cain contended 

that the court should have excluded from the evidence the 
statement or confession signed by the appellant because the 
appellant, at the time of the making of said confession, was a 
suspect, was under arrest, and was not provided with counsel; and 
that at the time of the making of said confession, the appellant 
was disoriented, having been a patient in the State Hospital prior 
to the alleged confession and again within five days after making 
such confession. 

246 S.C. at 541, 144 S.E.2d at 907. The court found that the confession was 
admissible, but reversed Cain’s convictions because the judge failed to 
charge the jury as to its role in determining the voluntariness of Cain’s 
confession. 

At the time the confession of the appellant was offered and 
admitted into evidence, even though the confession was taken 
while the appellant was in custody, all of the evidence showed 
that the said confession, as made, was a free and voluntary one, 
and there was no evidence to contradict the prima facie showing 
made by the State.  State v. Sharpe, 239 S.C. 258, 122 S.E.2d 
622. The lack of mental capacity is an important factor to be 
considered with other factors in determining whether, in fact, a 
purported confession was voluntary.  Blackburn v. State of 
Alabama, 361 U.S. 199, 80 S.Ct. 274, 4 L.Ed.2d 242. The 
appellant had the right to introduce evidence of his insanity at the 
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time of his confession for the purpose of impairing or destroying 
its effect and it was for the jury to determine what weight should 
be accorded thereto. We think the confession was admissible in 
evidence. 

. . . . 

The record in this case shows that the trial Judge failed to 
give any instructions whatsoever as to the rules governing 
confessions. We think this was prejudicial error.  The question of 
whether the appellant was mentally capable of making a 
confession and understood the contents of his statement and 
freely and voluntarily executed it should have been submitted to 
the jury under appropriate instructions.  State v. Gardner, 219 
S.C. 97, 64 S.E.2d 130, and State v. Clinkscales, 231 S.C. 650, 
99 S.E.2d 663. We quote from the last cited case: 

‘Although all the evidence may be to the effect 
that a confession made while under arrest was a 
voluntary one, the jury may not be so convinced; and 
it is the jury who, in the final analysis, must 
determine the factual issue of voluntariness. State v. 
Miller, 211 S.C. 306, 45 S.E.2d 23; State v. Gardner, 
219 S.C. 97, 64 S.E.2d 130. Cf. State v. Harris, 212 
S.C. 124, 46 S.E.2d 682. Similarly, even though a 
jury accepts a written confession as having been 
voluntarily made, it is not thereby bound to accept 
every statement contained in it as true; for it is the 
sole judge of its credibility, and may believe it all, or 
in part, or not at all.  It is unreasonable to assume that 
these matters are within the knowledge of the average 
juror; he should be informed of them by the Court. 
Whether such instruction would have altered the 
verdict in this case is a matter upon which we need 
not speculate; since life is at stake the case should be 
remanded, so that upon its retrial the jury may be 
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instructed as to their power, as sole judges of the 
facts to determine whether or not, under the evidence, 
the confession was voluntary, and to what extent they 
will give it credence.’ 

We think that in all fairness to the trial Judge it should be 
stated that he was not requested to instruct the jury on the subject 
of confessions. However, under the well recognized practice of 
this Court, where the death penalty is involved, these omissions 
on the part of counsel will not be held to waive the rights of the 
appellant. 

The judgment of the lower Court is reversed and this case 
remanded for a new trial. 

Cain, 246 S.C. at 541-42, 144 S.E.2d at 907-08. 

In State v. Callahan, 263 S.C. 35, 208 S.E.2d 284 (1974), Callahan 
confessed to rape, robbery, and burglary. He was indicted, and a jury 
convicted him of all charges. His confession was the basis for his appeal. 
The trial judge heard in camera testimony from a psychiatrist, Dr. 
Forsthoefel, who “had diagnosed the defendant as ‘mental retardation 
moderate.’”  Id.  at 39-40, 208 S.E.2d at 285.  Dr. Forsthoefel 

testified somewhat at length as to his ability to think and reason 
under stress. He said that the defendant ‘when subjected to even 
mild stress would become very labile, excitable and disorganized 
in his thinking and upset.’ He did not testify that the defendant 
did not know legal right from legal wrong. 

263 S.C. at 40, 208 S.E.2d at 285.   

After hearing additional testimony, the judge concluded Callahan’s 
confession “‘was freely and voluntarily made after the defendant had been 
accorded all of his Constitutional rights.’”  263 S.C. at 40, 208 S.E.2d at 286. 
The issue of voluntariness became a question of fact for the jury, and 

77




accordingly, the State and Callahan proceeded to offer testimony relating to 
the confession before the jury. 

After the State had again submitted its witnesses on the 
voluntariness issue, and while counsel for the defendant was 
again presenting his witnesses to the contra, Dr. Forsthoefel was 
again called to the stand and testified. He said that his diagnosis 
was that the defendant “is moderate mental retardation, I.Q. range 
of 55 to 65 at the most.” 

The record then reflects the following: 

“Q. Do you have an opinion as to his ability to think 
or reason under stress? 

“A. Yes, I do have an opinion.” 

The solicitor objected to this question and the judge 
sustained the objection. Later, defense counsel asked this 
question: 

“Q. Okay, Doctor, do you have an opinion as to his 
quality of thinking?” 

“A. His quality of thinking . . .” 

The trial judge interrupted and did not permit the witness to 
continue to answer. 

263 S.C. at 40, 208 S.E.2d at 286.   

The issue for the Callahan court was “whether the defendant was 
prejudiced by denial of the right to further pursue the question of mental 
capacity” in the jury’s presence. Id.  The court held the trial judge erred by 
refusing to allow the psychiatrist’s answers: 
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A confession is not admissible unless voluntary, and it was 
for the jury to say in the last analysis whether the confession was 
or was not voluntary. In State v. Cain, 246 S.C. 536, 144 S.E.2d 
905 (1965), this Court held, “The lack of mental capacity is an 
important factor to be considered with other factors in 
determining whether, in fact, a purported confession was 
voluntary.”  Accordingly, the defendant was entitled to submit 
evidence of the psychiatrist touching on the defendant’s mental 
capacity and it would have been appropriate to allow both 
questions quoted hereinabove. 

263 S.C. at 41, 208 S.E.2d at 286. However, the court found no prejudice 
from the error because the jury heard other testimony of Callahan’s 
mentality.  Id. at 43, S.E.2d at 287 (“To exclude the testimony of Dr. 
Forsthoefel was inconsistent with our reasoning in Cain, but we think that the 
jury was fully apprised of the fact that the defendant was of very low 
mentality short of insanity.”). 

In State v. Doby, 273 S.C. 704, 709, 258 S.E.2d 896, 899 (1979), our 
supreme court recalled, “‘We have consistently held that mental deficiency 
alone is not sufficient to render a confession involuntary but that it is a factor 
to be considered along with all of the other attendant facts and circumstances 
in determining the voluntariness of the confession. State v. Cain, 246 S.C. 
536, 144 S.E.2d 905; State v. Callahan, 263 S.C. 35, 208 S.E.2d 284.’  In Re 
Williams, 265 S.C. 295, 301, 217 S.E.2d 719, 722 (1975).”   

Jennings, age twenty-two, confessed to burglarizing a home and killing 
the resident in State v. Jennings, 280 S.C. 62, 309 S.E.2d 759 (1983). 
Jennings had a hearing deficiency and was described as “‘mildly’ retarded.” 
Id. at 63, 309 S.E.2d at 759. However, the record included testimony that 
“the officers who questioned appellant were aware of the physical 
deficiencies and exercised caution to be sure that he could hear and 
understand the communications with him.” Id. at 63-64, 309 S.E.2d at 760. 
The court considered Jennings’s condition and found his confession 
voluntary considering the totality of the circumstances.   
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Neither the length of custody before the confession was made, 
nor the physical deficiencies of the appellant, were conclusive of 
the issues concerning the voluntariness of the confession, but 
were factors to be considered by the trial judge, along with the 
other testimony and circumstances, in determining the 
admissibility of the alleged confession. We find no basis upon 
which to disturb the findings of the trial judge that the confession 
was freely and voluntarily made. 

Jennings, 280 S.C. at 64, 309 S.E.2d at 760. 

5. Relevance of Expert Testimony to the Voluntariness Analysis 

Indubitably, a defendant’s mental capacity is a factor that may be 
considered both by the court in its Jackson v. Denno hearing analysis, and by 
the jury in its voluntariness determination.  Santiago sought to admit 
Schwartz-Watts’s testimony as a means of explaining “his issuing a statement 
as he did based on his perceptions of his not being treated well, being messed 
with, his rights violated[.]” This testimony was relevant to Santiago’s mental 
condition at the time of the confession and would have had a tendency to 
make more probable the allegedly involuntary nature of Santiago’s 
confession.  As the ultimate arbiter of whether Santiago’s confession was 
voluntary, the jury was entitled to hear Schwartz-Watts’s testimony. 
Therefore, the trial judge erred in excluding it. 

Moreover, the error prejudiced Santiago.  Because the trial judge 
excluded Schwartz-Watts’s testimony, Santiago was unable to present the 
jury with evidence relevant to the voluntariness of his confession. Further, 
the jury was not apprised of Santiago’s mental capacity through other 
testimony.  Cf. Callahan, 263 S.C. at 42, 208 S.E.2d at 286 (finding error not 
prejudicial when the jury knew of the defendant’s mental capacity through 
other testimony). Thus, the error was inimical to Santiago.  

The trial judge erred by failing to give a self-defense charge and 
committed an abuse of discretion by excluding evidence relevant to the jury’s 
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 voluntariness determination. Accordingly, I VOTE to REVERSE 
Santiago’s convictions. 
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